AFFORDABLE HOUSING

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT

May 2022













How to use this document

The document comprises of 12 chapters with each chapter covering a different topic. The best way to navigate through the document is by using the interactive contents. By clicking on a specific chapter in the contents, it will automatically take you to that part of the document. Moreover, if you want to go to a different section quickly, the easiest way is to click the home symbol in the top right corner of the page. This will take you back to the contents where you can then select a different chapter. There is also a guide on the right-hand side of each page, this will show you what chapter of the document you are currently in and where that sits within the rest of the document. Throughout the document there are hyperlinks in the text that provide links to further information.

What is a Supplementary Planning Document?

Supplementary Planning Documents expand upon policy and provide further detail to support the implementation of policies in <u>Local Plans</u>. Whilst not a part of the development plan, they are a material consideration in the determination of planning applications. The Local Plan policies, which this SPD provides guidance on, can be viewed on the Council's website: <u>www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/localplan</u>



Contents

1.	Introduction	1		
2.	Types of Affordable Housing	5		
3.	Identifying an Appropriate Mix of Affordable Housing	13		
4.	Section 106 Agreements	20		
5.	Financial Contributions	26		
6.	Exception Sites	29		
7.	Design	36		
8.	Local Housing Needs Assessments	50		
9.	Viability Assessments	52		
10.	Vacant Buildings Credit	55		
11.	Community Infrastructure Levy	58		
12.	Making a Planning Application	60		
Appendix 1 Affordable Housing Needs by Tenure61				
Арр	endix 2 Section 106 Model Heads of Terms and Template			
Clau	ıses	68		
Арр	Appendix 3 Vacant Buildings Credit89			
Арр	Appendix 4 List of Photographs9			



1. Introduction

Context

- 1.1 Whilst the cost of housing varies across East Suffolk, access to affordable housing is an issue across the district. Government statistics show that, at the time of preparation of this Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), the ratio of earnings to house prices is on average 8.39 in East Suffolk (i.e. the average house is 8.39 times the average earnings¹), meaning that for many households market housing is not an option. Affordability issues are not equal across the district and in some places house prices are considerably higher than regional and national averages. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment, which was produced as evidence to inform the district's two Local Plans, identified a need for 94 affordable houses per year in the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area and 208 affordable houses per year in the Waveney Local Plan area, giving a scale of the need for affordable housing.
- 1.2 The benefits of adequate affordable housing provision are not limited to being low cost to the occupants. Affordable housing also helps to provide long-term, safe and needs-appropriate housing for people whose needs are otherwise not met by housing that is available on the market.
- 1.3 Affordable housing is fundamental to support the district's health, a strong local economy and communities with more permanent, diverse, and

cohesive communities. Addressing the district's needs for affordable housing is therefore a corporate ambition of the Council, with both the Housing and the Planning services playing a key role in achieving higher rates of delivery and at a high build quality.

- 1.4 The Council's <u>Housing Strategy (2017-2023)</u>² sets out the Council's ambitions for increasing the provision of affordable housing and includes a priority of "Increasing the supply of new housing to meet a range of needs a more proactive role for East Suffolk supporting the development of affordable homes".
- 1.5 The <u>Housing Development Strategy (2020-2024)</u>³ sets out the Council's approach to direct provision of affordable housing, setting out an action to develop and publish a 3-year rolling development programme with an objective of achieving at least 50 units per annum.
- 1.6 The <u>Housing Enabling Strategy (2020-2025)</u>⁴ sets out actions to proactively boost housing delivery, including affordable housing through working with communities and through the development of the Council's own assets.
- 1.7 Affordable housing is delivered through planning policies primarily through one of two ways through policies that require a proportion of affordable housing as part of certain market housing developments (residential developments of 10 or more dwellings or 0.5 hectares or more in the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area and of 11 or more dwellings in the Waveney Local Plan area) and through policies that provide support for affordable housing

¹ Office for National Statistics, Median workplace earnings to median house price 2020 (published 25th March 2021)

 $[\]underline{www.ons.gov.uk/people population and community/housing/datasets/ratio of house price towork place based earnings lower quartile and median$

² www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Housing/East-Suffolk-Housing-Strategy-2017-2023/East-Suffolk-Housing-Strategy-2017-23.pdf

³ www.paperturn-view.com/uk/east-suffolk/housing-developmentstrategy?pid=NzU75318&v=1.1

⁴ www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Housing/Housing-Enabling-Strategy.pdf



to come forward in certain circumstances as an exception to planning policies for housing (known as 'exception sites'). The latter may include community led housing developments. Affordable housing is also delivered on schemes brought forward for entirely affordable housing, or for a proportion larger than policy thresholds, usually by Registered Providers.

- 1.8 The East Suffolk Council Suffolk Coastal Local Plan (September 2020)⁵ and the East Suffolk Council Waveney Local Plan (March 2019)⁶ contain policies which seek to support and facilitate the delivery of affordable housing to address the needs for affordable housing that have been identified in the evidence base underpinning the production of the two Local Plans.
- 1.9 The need for affordable housing was assessed through the Strategic Housing Market Assessment⁷ (part 2) which underpins the affordable housing policies contained in the Local Plans. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment identified that in the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area there is a need for affordable housing for 94 households per year and in the Waveney Local Plan area a need for affordable housing for 208 households per year, over the Plan period to 2036.

Purpose

1.10 The overarching aim of the SPD is to facilitate the delivery of affordable housing in accordance with the Local Plan policies. The guidance contained in this SPD will assist in the implementation of policies contained in the

- 1.11 This SPD is adopted by East Suffolk Council and relates to the areas covered by the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan and the Waveney Local Plan. The Broads Authority, which covers part of the northernmost area of the district, are the planning authority for the Broads and have their own Local Plan (adopted May 2019)⁸. Policy DM34 of the Broads Local Plan sets out that affordable housing is required on sites of ten or more dwellings and commuted sums are required on sites of 6-9 dwellings, to be provided in accordance with the standards and policies of the relevant District Council (in this case, the Waveney Local Plan). Guidance contained within this SPD may therefore be relevant in the Broads Authority area.
- 1.12 The guidance in the SPD may also be relevant to the implementation of Neighbourhood Plan policies that relate to affordable housing.
- 1.13 This document provides guidance which will be relevant during the preparation and determination of any planning applications which involve affordable housing, or for which the Local Plan policies concerning affordable housing are relevant.
- 1.14 This Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document replaces the following documents:

Local Plans for East Suffolk regarding affordable housing, and as an SPD this guidance will, when adopted, be a material consideration in determining applications for planning permission.

⁵ www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Planning-Policy-and-Local-Plans/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Adopted-Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/East-Suffolk-Council-Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan.pdf

 $^{^{6} \ \}underline{\text{www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Waveney-Local-Plan/Adopted-Waveney-Local-Plan-including-Erratum.pdf}$

⁷ Available at www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy-and-local-plans/local-plans/local-plan-evidence-base/

 $^{^{8} \ \}underline{\text{www.broads-authority.gov.uk/}} \ \underline{\text{data/assets/pdf file/0036/259596/Local-Plan-for-the-Broads.pdf}}$



- Supplementary Planning Guidance 2 Affordable Housing (July 2004) –
 this relates to the former Suffolk Coastal area.
- Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (May 2012) this relates to the former Waveney local planning authority area.

Planning Policy

- 1.15 The East Suffolk Council Local Plans the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan and the Waveney Local Plan (outside the Broads Authority who produce their own Local Plan) as well as 'made' Neighbourhood Plans and the Minerals and Waste Local Plan produced by Suffolk County Council, form the development plan for the district. The delivery of affordable housing is a key element of the strategies of both Local Plans.
- 1.16 The Local Plans set out a spatial vision and strategies for the period to 2036.
 The key Local Plan policies to which this SPD relates are listed in Table 1.1 below.

Table 1.1 – key Local Plan policies

Local Plan Policies - Suffolk Coastal Local Plan

- SCLP5.10: Affordable Housing on Residential Developments
- SCLP5.11: Affordable Housing on Exception Sites

Local Plan Policies - Waveney Local Plan

- WLP8.2: Affordable Housing
- WLP8.6: Affordable Housing in the Countryside
- 1.17 Whilst the policies in the two Local Plans are founded on similar principles, i.e., they aim to secure affordable housing through residential development and provide opportunities for affordable housing to come forward on 'exception sites', there are differences in parts of the detail within each policy and these will be explained throughout the SPD.
- 1.18 Neighbourhood Plans may also set local policies on affordable housing, informed by local circumstances and evidence.
- 1.19 The guidance in this SPD has been written also with regard to the Government's most recent revision of the National Planning Policy



<u>Framework</u>⁹ (NPPF, 2021) and the relevant categories of the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) to which the Council has regard as a material consideration in reaching decisions on planning applications. Of particular significance are NPPF Paragraphs 63, 64, 65, 72 and 78 and Annex 2, and the Planning Practice Guidance on <u>'Housing needs of different groups'¹⁰, 'Build to Rent'¹¹ and 'First Homes'¹².</u>

Role of the Council and other organisations

- 1.20 The Council has two important but distinct roles in the provision of affordable housing, as the local planning authority and as the housing authority.
- 1.21 As local planning authority, the Council has adopted Local Plans setting out requirements and policies to support the provision of affordable housing and will determine planning applications and lead on the preparation of Section 106 agreements.
- 1.22 As the housing authority, the Council will provide advice on local housing need, input into the preparation of legal agreements, allocate dwellings to eligible households and, in some cases, own and manage affordable housing stock. The Council also takes a proactive role in developing affordable housing and working with Registered Providers and communities to support and facilitate the delivery of affordable housing. This can involve the direct

- development of affordable housing, delivery through renovation, or the regeneration of wider areas which can include affordable housing delivery. The Council's private sector housing service also has a role in restoring empty homes which may also be used for affordable housing.
- 1.23 Other Registered Providers of affordable housing are Housing Associations, a number of which operate in East Suffolk. Registered Providers may develop their own stock or purchase affordable dwellings, or land, that becomes available on residential sites.
- 1.24 Affordable housing may also be developed and retained by community led housing (CLH) organisations. CLH groups can become Registered Providers with the Regulator of Social Housing.

⁹https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/ a/file/1005759/NPPF_July_2021.pdf

 $^{^{10} \ \}underline{www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-needs-of-different-groups\#addressing-the-need-for-different-types-of-housing}$

¹¹ www.gov.uk/guidance/build-to-rent

¹² www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes





2. Types of Affordable Housing

2.1 Affordable housing is defined in the glossary (Annex 2) of the 2021 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and can broadly be split into two groups – affordable housing for rent and affordable housing for purchase.

Affordable Housing Tenures

Affordable rent and social rent

2.2 Affordable rent and social rent are affordable housing that meets all of the conditions set under the definition of affordable housing for rent contained in the glossary, which are:

"...(a) the rent is set in accordance with the Government's rent policy for Social Rent or Affordable Rent, or is at least 20% below local market rents (including service charges where applicable);

Social rent is set at a lower monthly cost than affordable rent, typically around 50% - 60% of market rental costs, capped at the Local Housing Allowance, and is calculated through a formula published by the Government.

Affordable rented properties must not exceed 80% of the open market rental value. Affordable rental properties are usually owned and managed by a Registered Provider but could be owned and managed by the Council.

- (b) the landlord is a registered provider, except where it is included as part of a Build to Rent scheme (in which case the landlord need not be a registered provider); and
- (c) it includes provisions to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision. For Build to Rent schemes affordable housing for rent is expected to be the normal form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context, is known as Affordable Private Rent)".
- Affordable housing for rent should be provided by a Registered Provider, which includes Housing Associations, community led housing groups (where registered with the Regulator of Social Housing) and the Council. Affordable housing for rent is allocated based on housing need which is identified via the Gateway to Homechoice register (a choice based letting model)¹³. Whilst social rent provides lower cost dwellings for future occupants, the return is lower which can have an impact on the viability of the development. The majority of new affordable housing for rent is the affordable rent tenure rather than social rent.

Shared Ownership

2.4 Shared Ownership properties enable occupants to buy a share of a property, whilst paying rent and service charges on the remaining value. The initial share bought is between 10-75% with options to purchase additional shares as these become affordable to the occupant. Further

¹³ www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/housing/affordable-housing/



information on the operation of Shared Ownership can be viewed on the Government's shared ownership website¹⁴.

Shared Equity

2.5 Shared equity allows purchasers to buy between 70-80% of the property. Shared Equity is often sold on a freehold basis with the discount protected by a charge. They will need at least 15% deposit but pay no rent on the unsold equity. This remains with the property owner, which is usually a private developer. Homeowners can buy the remaining equity after 2 years. The funds from additional equity bought should be retained by the Registered Provider and be used for future affordable housing schemes in the district.

Discounted home ownership

2.6 Discounted home ownership / discounted market sales housing are terms describing housing which is sold freehold at a value of up to 80% market value. There is no rent to pay on the remaining share, however the discount would be applied at the same proportion in any future re-sale.

Starter Homes

2.7 Starter Homes were introduced in the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and are offered at a minimum of 20% discount below open market value up to a value of £250,000, and to those with a maximum income of £80,000. They are available for first-time buyers under the age of 40 and if sold within 15 years the discount would need to be repaid. Starter Homes do not, therefore, remain affordable in perpetuity. The anticipated secondary

legislation has not come forward and the Government has subsequently introduced First Homes as a new tenure aimed at first time buyers.

Rent to Buy

2.8 Rent to Buy enables occupants to rent a property at 20% below the open market rent, in order to save for a deposit to purchase the home in the future. Rent to Buy is an affordable ownership tenure and not a rental tenure, as the purpose is to provide an opportunity ultimately for affordable home ownership.

First Homes

- First Homes were introduced on 28th June 2021 as a specific type of discounted market sales housing. First Homes are available to purchase with a minimum discount of 30% below market value, with the discount retained in perpetuity whilst the initial sale price must not exceed £250,000. As with Starter Homes, they are available to first time buyers with an annual household income not exceeding £80,000. The Government is requiring that 25% of homes delivered through developer contributions are First Homes. The Government has published <u>Planning Practice Guidance on First Homes</u>.
- 2.10 Housing, which may be viewed as 'affordable' (i.e. it is cheaper in some way than market housing) but which is not contained in the definition of affordable housing in the NPPF (along with First Homes which is a new tenure established through the introduction of Planning Practice Guidance) is not affordable housing and would not be considered as such in terms of applying the policies of the Local Plans. Service Family Accommodation, for

¹⁴ www.gov.uk/affordable-home-ownership-schemes/shared-ownership-scheme

¹⁵ www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes



housing Ministry of Defence personnel and their families, is governed by nationally set rental rates which are below market rent. However, it does not fall within the NPPF definition of affordable housing and the provision of affordable housing on such developments would be considered on a case by case basis under the policies in the Local Plans.

Community led affordable housing

- 2.11 Community groups can bring forward affordable housing, often as 'exception sites' on the edge of settlements, as stand-alone projects, whereby the community group own and manage the homes, or work in partnership with a housing association.
- 2.12 Neighbourhood Plans may also have a role in the development of affordable housing. The Council is separately producing guidance for Neighbourhood Planning groups on the benefits and opportunities of planning for new housing, including affordable housing, in their plans.
 - Community-Led Housing
- 2.13 Community-Led Housing provides a route for delivery of affordable housing to meet the needs of the community. Community Led Housing is a term for projects that share these principles:
 - The community is integrally involved throughout the process in key decisions such as what housing is provided and where.
 - There is a presumption that the community group will take a longterm formal role in the support, ownership, stewardship or management of the homes.

- The benefits of the scheme to the local area and/or specified community group are clearly defined and legally protected in perpetuity via a non-profit company with an asset lock.
- The community does not necessarily have to initiate the project and does not have to build the homes themselves.

There are three main models followed in the provision of Community-Led Housing:

- Community Land Trusts
- Cooperative Housing Societies
- Cohousing

Community Land Trusts

- 2.14 Community Land Trusts (CLTs) are set up and run by communities to develop and manage homes, as well as other assets important to that community, such as community enterprises, food growing or workspaces. CLTs act as long-term stewards of the housing to ensure the homes remain affordable for future generations based on what local people earn rather than land values. The Right to Buy does not apply to housing delivered through a Community Land Trust.
- 2.15 CLTs use democratic governance structures based on a non-profit company to protect the homes and infrastructure via an 'asset lock'. The Council will provide support to CLTs providing they are in line with the definition as per the Housing and Regeneration Act (2008).



Co-operative Housing Societies

2.16 Co-operative Housing Societies are non-profit organisations that seek to meet the needs of their members. Like Community Land Trusts, Co-operative Housing Societies deliver affordable housing for rent or home ownership as well as other assets such as space for employment, recreation and growing food. Under this model there is joint ownership and management of land and assets. Cooperative Housing Societies are exempt in law from the Right to Buy.

Cohousing

- 2.17 Cohousing communities are created, owned and run by their residents. Each household has a self-contained, private home (rented or purchased) as well as shared community facilities and spaces (e.g. a shared laundry room, a common house, guest accommodation, community allotments, etc.). Residents collectively manage the community. Cohousing is a particularly relevant model for single-person households who may otherwise be vulnerable to the adverse health impacts of social isolation, and whom feel a strong community connection is important to them for their wellbeing and quality of life. However, Cohousing is also a highly suitable model for larger households and households with children.
- 2.18 Cohousing schemes are intentional communities whereby members agree to abide by a set of agreed values. Cohousing is not an affordable housing model but can deliver homes for affordable rent or home ownership tenures in perpetuity. Clarity about tenures would be required as part of the early consultation with the Council to ensure the correct advice is given.

2.19 Through its Housing Enabling role, the Council provides support and guidance on community led housing initiatives. It is likely that most community led housing developments will come forward as exception sites. Such proposals would need to be supported by evidence of housing need (see Chapter 8) and details of how the affordable housing will be protected in perpetuity would be required. A Section 106 agreement would be expected to be agreed as part of the planning application. Community groups can request specific advice from the Council's Housing Enabling Team (see Chapter 6).

Affordable Self Build and Custom Build Housing

- 2.20 Self-build and custom-build housing is not, by definition, affordable housing, albeit that it can provide an opportunity for some cost savings where future occupants undertake a degree of work themselves (often known as 'sweat equity').
- 2.21 Self-build and custom-build housing has its legal basis in the Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 and is defined in the NPPF as:

"Housing built by an individual, a group of individuals, or persons working with or for them, to be occupied by that individual. Such housing can be either market or affordable housing. A legal definition, for the purpose of applying the Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended), is contained in section 1(A1) and (A2) of that act."

It is only 'affordable housing' by definition if it is delivered in a manner that meets with the definition of affordable housing (see sub-section 'Affordable Housing Tenures' above for definitions).



- 2.22 The Council is actively supporting and facilitating the delivery of self-build and custom-build housing, including through its Housing Enabling Strategy as well as through policies in its Local Plans. In principle the Council will support the development of affordable self/custom build schemes where they are in accordance with relevant Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plan policies.
- 2.23 The delivery of affordable self-build and custom-build properties is, by its very nature, more complex than the delivery of either affordable housing or self and custom-build housing. For example, occupants of affordable housing would usually not be identified until later in the development process and consideration would therefore need to be given to identifying occupants earlier on to ensure that they can have an appropriate level of input into the design and construction of the dwellings.
- 2.24 Affordable self-build and custom-build housing could however be delivered through a number of means, including:
 - A Registered Provider constructing a 'shell' which can be completed by the occupant under a Shared Ownership arrangement.
 - Transfer of a 'shell' from a developer to a Registered Provider with the future occupant undertaking work to finish the property.
 - A Registered Provider delivering homes for rent, with future occupants having an input to the design and/or assisting with elements of the construction process.
 - Development initiated or commissioned by community led housing groups, with future occupants involved in the design and construction process.

- The provision of serviced plots that are below market value.
- 2.25 Affordable custom-build, rather than self-build, may be more feasible in instances where a number of properties are being developed and managed under a Registered Provider, where future occupants can customise the property in accordance with their requirements.
- 2.26 A legal agreement (Section 106 agreement) will ensure that the self-build properties remain affordable. The prospective occupants may also be expected to meet relevant eligibility criteria, as set out in the Section 106 Model Heads of Terms and Template Clauses in Appendix 2.
- 2.27 Where affordable self-build or affordable custom-build is to be delivered on Exception Sites it is expected that a local need for affordable housing (see Chapter 6) as well as a local aspiration to deliver this as self and/or custom build will have been identified.
- 2.28 For self-build properties that are built as a form of discounted market sales housing, the discount to the occupant and future occupants would need to comply with national policy on affordable housing and would be secured through the Section 106 agreement. This is at least 20% below market value for discounted market sale properties and other low-cost homes for sale and at least 30% below market value for First Homes.
- 2.29 The Council's Local Plan policies which require a proportion of affordable housing to be provided as part of residential development (SCLP5.10 and WLP8.2) apply to development of solely self-build / custom-build developments as well as to other housing proposals. The Council's Local Plan policies are clear that self-build and custom-build housing will only be supported where in compliance with all other relevant Local Plan



- policies and self and custom build developments will therefore be expected to provide the required amount of affordable housing.
- 2.30 The Council will expect provision to be made on-site, however it may consider a commuted sum in exceptional circumstances where provision on site is not viable.
- 2.31 Affordable self and custom-build dwellings will need to meet the definition of affordable housing set out in the NPPF – whilst there are usually some cost saving benefits from self and custom-build these benefits by themselves do not meet with the definition of affordable housing. It is expected that the tenure mix of the affordable self build properties would meet the requirements of policies SCLP5.10 and WLP8.2, including the Government's requirement for 25% of affordable housing to be First Homes. Paragraph 65 of the NPPF sets out that exemptions should be made to the policy requiring at least 10% of the total number of homes on the site to be available for home ownership in the case of development proposed to be developed by people who wish to build or commission their own homes (as well as other circumstances). However, this does not preclude affordable self and custom build units coming forward for ownership tenures and the Council's Local Plan policies on provision of affordable housing do not set out an alternative approach for self and custom build affordable properties.
- 2.32 The Council will expect the applicant to set out how the affordable dwellings will be delivered. Mechanisms for this can include:
 - Land offered to Registered Providers for the delivery of the affordable self-build or custom-build plots.

 The sale of plots at below market value with the reduction in market value captured through the Section 106 agreement. The developer / applicant should put forward a mechanism for securing the discount in perpetuity.

In circumstances where the Council agrees that reasonable steps have been taken to secure provision of the affordable dwellings as self-build or custom-build, and where there is clear evidence that no Registered Provider has been willing to take on the affordable self build element, affordable housing units can be built by the developer and transferred to a Registered Provider.

2.33 A Design Code will usually be secured for self-build developments, and this will also apply to groups of affordable self-build units on the site.

3. Identifying an Appropriate Mix of Affordable Housing





3. Identifying an Appropriate Mix of Affordable Housing

Policy SCLP5.10 and Policy WLP8.2 set out the tenures of affordable housing that are expected to be provided on residential sites which trigger the need for affordable housing:

Table 3.1 – Affordable housing requirements of Local Plan policies (see also paragraphs 3.7 – 3.14 on application of the Planning Practice Guidance on First Homes)

	Threshold	Requirement	Tenure
Suffolk Coastal Local Plan (SCLP5.10)	 10 dwellings or more and sites of 0.5ha or more 	• 1 in 3 – applies to whole plan area	 50% affordable rent / social rent 25% shared ownership 25% discounted home ownership
Waveney Local Plan (WLP8.2)	• 11 dwellings or more	 20% in Lowestoft and Kessingland (excluding Corton) 40% in Southwold and Reydon 30% elsewhere 	• 50% affordable rent

- 3.2 These tenures have been informed by the Strategic Housing Market Assessment¹⁶ which was produced to inform the preparation of the Local Plans, in line with the requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
- The Strategic Housing Market Assessment provides an assessment of affordable housing need for each plan area and for the plan period. As well as informing the tenures set out in the policies, the Strategic Housing Market Assessment provides a further, detailed breakdown by Local Plan area of the size of properties needed within different tenures, including affordable tenures. As a key piece of evidence, the Strategic Housing Market

3.4 The tenure and size of affordable housing needed for the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area is set out in Appendix 4 of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment – Part 2 Partial Update (January 2019). The results relating to the 2014-based household projections relate most closely to the local plan

For the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area - $\frac{www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Local-Plan-Review/Evidence-base/SHMA-Part-2-update-2019.pdf (2014-based outputs)$

Assessment should be used to inform an appropriate mix of affordable housing, along with other considerations as set out further below. The needs in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment cover the Local Plan areas and the Local Plan period up to 2036 and will therefore be particularly relevant on larger sites that will be meeting a wider affordable housing need.

¹⁶ For the Waveney Local Plan area - www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Local-Plan-Review/Evidence-base/Ipswich-and-Waveney-Housing-Market-Areas-Strategic-Housing-Market-Assessment-Part-2.pdf



housing requirement and it is these outputs that should be used. Tables 4.2f to 4.8f set out the requirements across different tenures.

- Plan area is set out in Chapter 4 of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment Part 2 (May 2017). Tables 4.2b to 4.8b set out the requirements across different tenures. Policy WLP8.2 states that of the affordable housing required on sites of 11 or more 50% should be for affordable rent. It is expected that, aligned with paragraph 8.12 of the Local Plan, the remainder would be affordable ownership tenures.
- The relevant tables from the Strategic Housing Market Assessment are copied into Appendix 1, for ease of reference, however the full Strategic Housing Market Assessment reports should be referred to for context.

First Homes

The Government's First Homes policy came into force on 28th June 2021. The Planning Practice Guidance on First Homes¹⁷ states that First Homes are a specific type of discounted market sale housing and the Government's preferred discounted market tenure. The PPG suggests that 25% of all affordable housing delivered through developer obligations should be First Homes including where a local planning authority has adopted Development Plan policies which specify the expected mix of affordable housing tenures, as is the case with East Suffolk Council's Local Plans. The PPG does not displace the statutory presumption in favour of the Development Plan but is a material consideration in the Council's decision-making. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment assessed the need for different tenures of affordable housing over the plan period but did not

consider whether there was a need for First Homes as this tenure didn't exist at the time. The SHMA did however identify a need for discounted market housing and Starter Homes. In Policy SCLP5.10 the results of the SHMA have informed the policy requirement for 25% of the affordable housing to be for discounted home ownership, although the policy itself does not require any particular type of discounted market housing. Policy WLP8.2 does not set out proportions for affordable home ownership tenures, however the SHMA assessed that just over 20% of the need for affordable housing was for Starter Homes / discounted market dwellings.

The PPG suggests that once a minimum of 25% of First Homes has been accounted for, social rent should be delivered in the same percentage as set out in the local plan and that the remainder of the affordable housing tenures should be delivered in line with the proportions set out in the local plan policy. In the case of the Local Plans, however, Policy SCLP5.10 already requires 25% of affordable housing to be delivered as 'discounted home ownership' without further specifying what types of such housing are required. The Council considers that, as First Homes are a specific type of discount market tenure, the delivery of 25% First Homes in accordance with the PPG will accord with and fulfil the requirement in Policy SCLP5.10 to deliver 25% discounted home ownership. The only requirement in Policy WLP8.2 is that 50% of affordable housing be delivered as affordable rent which will not be compromised by the delivery of 25% First Homes. The Council will therefore expect schemes to deliver the following mix. In the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area, schemes will be expected to deliver 25% First Homes (which will fulfil the requirement to deliver 25% discounted home ownership), 50% affordable rent / social rent and 25% Shared Ownership. This will accord with the PPG requirement to deliver 25% First Homes and with the mix specified by Policy SCLP5.10. In the Waveney Local

¹⁷ www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes



Plan area, schemes will be expected to deliver 25% First Homes and 50% affordable rent. Again, this will accord with the PPG requirement to deliver 25% First Homes and accord with the requirements of Policy WLP8.2.

- 3.9 Around 27% of the need for affordable housing in the Waveney area was assessed as being for Shared Ownership properties and the Council will therefore still expect the provision of Shared Ownership alongside First Homes.
- 3.10 This means that, in the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area, other forms of discounted home ownership than First Homes are not expected to come forward under Policy SCLP5.10. However, the proposed approach will ensure compliance with both the PPG and the mix specified by Policy SCLP 5.10. It ensures that 25% of affordable housing is delivered as First Homes as the Government's preferred form of discounted market tenure whilst also ensuring that the need for affordable rented properties and Shared Ownership properties, as evidenced by the Council's Strategic Housing Market Assessment¹⁸, is addressed in accordance with adopted Local Plan policies. The PPG sets out that social rent should be delivered in the same percentage as set out in the Local Plan, and this approach also safeguards the provision of any social rent which may come forward under SCLP5.10.
- 3.11 The price cap (£250,000 as set out in the PPG) should be viewed as just that, a cap, and in accordance with the guidance in the Planning Practice Guidance the Council will expect that the size of First Homes reflects affordable needs, in particular acknowledging that the median house price in East Suffolk in 2020 was £245,000¹⁹.

- 3.13 In accordance with the transitional measures set out in the Planning Practice Guidance, the First Homes requirement will not apply to the following:
 - sites with full or outline planning permissions already in place or determined (or where a right to appeal against non-determination has arisen) before 28 December 2021;
 - applications for full or outline planning permission where there has been significant pre-application engagement which are determined before 28 March 2022;
 - sites where local and neighbourhood plans are adopted/made under the transitional arrangements, as detailed in paragraphs 18 and 19 of the PPG.
- 3.14 Developments of specialist housing which are required to provide affordable housing under Policy SCLP5.10 and Policy WLP8.2 will not need to provide First Homes as part of the tenure mix, where that specialist accommodation will usually be occupied by older persons rather than first time buyers.

Other considerations

3.15 It should also be recognised that needs may change over time or there may be particular needs for certain types of affordable properties in a specific

^{3.12} Occupants of First Homes will be required to meet eligibility criteria, as set out in the Model Heads of Terms and Template Clauses in Appendix 2.

 $[\]frac{18}{\text{www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan-Local-Plan-Review/Evidence-base/lpswich-and-Waveney-Housing-Market-Areas-Strategic-Housing-Market-Assessment-Part-2.pdf}$

¹⁹www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/datasets/ratioofhousepricetowork placebasedearningslowerquartileandmedian (data published 25th March 2021)



location, and this is acknowledged in the Local Plans. For this reason, the Housing Register or other evidence of local needs should be also considered alongside the Strategic Housing Market Assessment. The Housing Enabling Team can be contacted for guidance and for information on the data held on the Housing Register.

- 3.16 The Housing Register, managed through Gateway to Homechoice, provides details of those currently in need of affordable housing who have registered. The Gateway to Homechoice register does not register need for affordable home ownership dwellings, however, need for such tenures can be identified through the Help to Buy Agents²⁰ and/or through Registered Providers.
- 3.17 For relatively small sites where a proportion of affordable housing is required, the evidence of local need on the Housing Register may significantly influence the affordable housing mix (noting that the overall tenures would be expected to be in line with the adopted planning policies). However, it is particularly important that proposals on large and strategic sites, that may deliver over a longer period of time and meet wider than local needs, seek to address the needs identified in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment and are not solely informed by consideration of current local needs for affordable housing.
- 3.18 There may also be site specific considerations that inform the mix of affordable housing, for example the proximity of a site to a school may support a greater focus on family-sized homes. The location and nature of a site, and how an appropriate design responds to that location, may also influence the mix. In addition, Chapter 7 (Design) provides guidance on the

- appropriate distribution and placement of affordable homes on larger mixed-tenure sites.
- 3.19 Neighbourhood Plans may set their own policies on affordable housing mix, informed by local evidence, and in such circumstances the affordable housing mix would be expected to reflect the Neighbourhood Plan policy.
- 3.20 The advice of the Council's Housing Enabling Team will be sought in responding to pre-application requests and in considering relevant planning applications, outlining the amount, tenure, type and size of affordable units that would be expected on a site.
- 3.21 On exception sites, the principle behind such proposals being acceptable is that they will be meeting a local need for affordable housing that cannot be met through existing housing allocations. For such proposals, the responsibility is therefore on the applicant to demonstrate that a local need for affordable housing exists and will be addressed through the proposed scheme. Further guidance on exception sites is contained in Chapter 6 and guidance on undertaking a local housing needs assessment is contained in Chapter 8.

Specialist Housing

3.22 Both Local Plans recognise that the district has an ageing population and seek to provide for a mix of housing that will better meet the needs of older people. A part of this approach is supporting the appropriate provision of specialist housing. Needs for specialist housing were assessed through the Strategic Housing Market Assessment as part of the preparation of the Local

²⁰ www.onthemarket.com/help-to-buy/



Plans. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment assessed needs for the following types of accommodation:

- Sheltered housing
- Enhanced sheltered housing
- Extra care housing
- Residential care (nursing and residential care homes)
- 3.23 The Suffolk Coastal Local Plan further breaks the needs down into market and affordable needs, demonstrating a need for a total of 95 affordable sheltered, 53 affordable extra care units and 424 affordable residential care units over the plan period (Table 5.3 of the Local Plan).
- 3.24 Residential care will fall within Use Class C2 Residential Institutions. Other forms of specialist housing may fall within Use Class C2, however this is not always the case and will depend on the level of care to be provided. It has been determined in the courts that Class C2 can include accommodation in the form of dwellings, for example flats and bungalows, each of which have facilities appropriate for private, or independent, domestic existence, in circumstances where care is provided for an occupant in each dwelling who was in need of care as defined in Article 2 of the Use Classes Order. The accommodation must also be capable of being collectively described as a residential institution.
- 3.25 Proposals for C2 uses, other than for residential care/nursing homes, will be expected to apply the requirements for affordable housing set out under policies SCLP5.10 and WLP8.2. These Local Plan policies do not distinguish

- between housing development falling within either Use Class C2 or C3 in this respect.
- 3.26 Policy SCLP5.10 of the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan expects that affordable housing to meet the needs of older people will form part of the mix of affordable housing that is provided on residential development. Policy WLP8.2 of the Waveney Local Plan states that sheltered and extra care housing should be included as affordable units where needed and where practicable. Consideration should therefore be given to whether, on non-specialist developments, there are any needs for affordable specialist housing that could be provided as part of the affordable mix. On specialist developments the affordable housing is expected to be specialist. Local needs for specialist housing can be identified through the Council's Gateway to Homechoice housing register. Evidence may also be available through the Council's Older Persons Housing Strategy which is currently being developed.
- 3.27 The Government has introduced Optional Technical Standards for accessible and adaptable dwellings (Part M4(2)) and wheelchair user dwellings (Part M4(3)). Whilst these standards are set out in Part M of the Building Regulations, they can only be required through the planning system.
- 3.28 A proportion of dwellings constructed to M4(2) standards are required under Policy SCLP5.8 'Housing Mix' (at least 50%) and Policy WLP8.31 'Lifetime Design' (at least 40%) and as set out in Chapter 7 'Design' it is expected that a higher proportion of the M4(2) properties would be distributed to the affordable housing reflecting that generally there are higher levels of disability in those who need affordable housing²¹. The

 $[\]frac{21}{www.ons.gov.uk/people population and community/health and social care/disability/bulletins/disability and housing uk/2019$



proportions would be informed through engagement with the Housing Enabling Team. Policy SCLP5.8 also expects all new specialist dwellings to be built to M4(2) standards.

- 3.29 There is evidence on the Council's Housing Register of need for wheelchair accessible accommodation and therefore in some circumstances the Council may ask for a proportion of affordable properties to be constructed to M4(3) standards as part of the provision of affordable housing under Policies SCLP5.10 and WLP8.2. Wheelchair user dwellings should be designed to assist residents with mobility impairments. They should include step free access to the entrance level and outdoor spaces, easy access from vehicle to dwelling, and wet rooms. There is a need, as evidenced by the Gateway to Homechoice register, for one and two bedroom homes as well as family size housing to cater for families with disabled household members. The Council will accept M4(3) flats or bungalows as appropriate.
- 3.30 The Council is aware of the additional costs associated with building to M4(3) standards and where an applicant considers that such provision would result in viability issues, the Council would request the applicant submit a viability report in accordance with the guidance set out in the appendices of the Local Plans. In circumstances where there is an identified need for M4(3) affordable properties and the Council is satisfied that as a result delivery of the full policy compliant amount of affordable housing cannot be achieved for viability reasons, the Council will consider whether

the loss of a proportionate number of affordable homes would be acceptable in order to secure some affordable M4(3) properties.

Build to Rent

- 3.31 The Planning Practice Guidance on Build to Rent²² contains specific guidance on the provision of affordable housing. This explains that, on such schemes, affordable housing should be provided in the form of affordable private rent, at least 20% below market rent values. The Planning Practice Guidance explains that the affordable and market rent units should be managed collectively by a single build to rent landlord, rather than through a Registered Provider of affordable housing.
- 3.32 The Planning Practice Guidance on Build to Rent sets out that 20% is generally a suitable benchmark for the level of affordable private rented homes to be provided. The Council's Local Plan policies SCLP5.10 and WLP8.2 set out the proportions and tenure mix of affordable housing that are expected to be provided on residential developments (see table 3.1 above). In accordance with paragraph 65 of the NPPF, the Council is not able to require proposals for Build to Rent schemes to provide affordable housing for ownership tenures. As the policies do not set different thresholds for build to rent schemes it is expected that the relevant proportion of affordable housing will still be achieved, unless exceptional circumstances are demonstrated as set out in the policies, but this will be affordable housing for rent.

²² www.gov.uk/guidance/build-to-rent

4. Section 106 Agreements





4. Section 106 Agreements

- 4.1 Policy SCLP5.10 and Policy WLP8.2 set out requirements for a proportion of affordable housing to be provided as part of residential developments, whilst Policy SCLP5.11 and Policy WLP8.6 provide opportunities for affordable housing to come forward on exception sites. Permission for affordable housing may also be granted on other sites, for example within the Settlement Boundary.
- 4.2 Where affordable housing forms part of a development proposal, it will be secured through a Section 106 legal agreement (also known as a planning obligation). A Section 106 agreement, which takes its name from the relevant section of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, is a legal agreement between the Council and a developer or applicant (and in some cases other parties). A Section 106 agreement is used to secure measures which are necessary to make development acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. A Section 106 agreement is bound to the land and the development itself, rather than to the signatory, and will therefore continue to apply once land or dwellings are sold on.
- 4.3 A Section 106 agreement will be finalised after a resolution to grant planning permission, and the issuing of the planning permission is therefore dependent upon the completion of the Section 106 agreement.
- 4.4 A Section 106 agreement will cover a number of matters in relation to affordable housing, including:
 - The number of affordable dwellings;
 - The type, tenure and size (number of bedrooms) of dwellings;

- Arrangements for ensuring that the housing remains affordable in perpetuity;
- Phasing of the completion of dwellings;
- How the affordable housing will be achieved e.g. through construction and transfer of units;
- Occupancy criteria;
- A mortgagee in possession clause
- 4.5 Whilst the Local Plan policies expect affordable housing provision to be made on-site, in some exceptional circumstances a financial contribution towards off-site provision of affordable housing may be agreed during the consideration of a planning application. Where this is the case the Section 106 agreement will be used to secure an off-site contribution. These contributions, known as commuted sums, are explained in more detail in Chapter 5.
- 4.6 The provision of guidance on Section 106 agreements in this Supplementary Planning Document, including the Model Heads of Terms and Template Clauses (see Appendix 2), is aimed at providing an efficient and consistent approach to the preparation of Section 106 agreements. This will help to support necessary legal agreements to be secured in a timely manner, and to support the delivery of housing.

Pre-application advice

4.7 In order for the Section 106 agreement preparation process to run smoothly, it is important that applicants give early consideration to the delivery of affordable housing.



- 4.8 It is important to engage with the Council's pre-application advice service to obtain advice in relation to affordable housing need and the types of dwellings that should be provided. This will help to reduce the potential need for changes to the design and the affordable housing provision over the course of the determination of the planning application. The advice of the Council's Housing Enabling Team on affordable housing needs will be sought as part of the pre-application response.
- 4.9 A Registered Provider of Affordable Housing will ultimately take on the ownership / management of the affordable housing (other than for some discounted market sale tenures). The Council supports the delivery of affordable housing via Community Led Housing groups. However, to manage affordable rented housing, they would need to become a Registered Provider or enter into a management agreement with a Registered Provider, either the Council or a Housing Association operating in the district.
- 4.10 The Model Heads of Terms require that a contract should be entered into with a Registered Provider, or evidence provided to demonstrate that negotiations are in hand, prior to occupation of 40% of the market dwellings on the development. The Affordable Housing Scheme, that will be required under the Section 106 agreement, should include details of the Registered Provider, where known. Whilst it is understood that the needs and circumstances of Registered Providers can change over the course of the evolution of a development, and that formally tying in a Registered Provider at an early stage can lead to abortive work, early engagement will nevertheless reduce the risk and degree of changes that may need to be made later on. Engagement on matters such as the design, type, size, layout and distribution of the affordable units is important in maximising the likelihood that a Registered Provider will wish to take on the affordable units at a later stage. Whilst this is crucial for all sites, for small

sites which will take less time to construct and therefore where the affordable element is likely to come forward sooner, it is even more imperative that early engagement takes place with Registered Providers.

Planning application stage

- 4.11 At the planning application stage, including at outline stage, information on the types, sizes, location and tenure of affordable housing proposed should be submitted. At the detailed application stage (full or reserved matters) the applicant should clearly specify the plots which are proposed as affordable housing, including proposed tenures, sizes and which dwellings are to be built to M4(2) or M4(3) (if applicable) standard. For outline applications, percentages rather than absolute numbers would be acceptable where this is still to be confirmed at reserved matters stage. It is recognised that at outline stage indicative locations of dwellings may be submitted. Whilst this may not form part of the determination, the Council may put an informative on the decision notice to highlight this with the expectation this would be taken into account in the preparation of the subsequent reserved matters application(s). Where, on large sites, delivery of affordable housing is to be phased, details of the proposed phasing should be submitted.
- 4.12 The Council's Local Validation List (current version dated October 2020) sets out the requirement for submission of an Affordable Housing Statement with a planning application which includes affordable housing (or one for which affordable housing would be required by the Council's policies). The Affordable Housing Statement will ideally be submitted as a standalone document.



4.13 Community Led Housing groups seeking to bring forward affordable housing schemes are encouraged to discuss their project with planning and housing enabling officers at the earliest opportunity.

Model Heads of Terms

4.14 Model Heads of Terms and Template Clauses are included in Appendix 2. These are the standard terms under which the Council expects to enter into through Section 106 agreements. Deviation from the Model Heads of Terms and Template Clauses will only be accepted where justified and in exceptional circumstances. This might include some circumstances where affordable housing is brought forward other than as required as part of a market housing development or as an exception site.

Occupancy and allocation

- 4.15 A Section 106 agreement will set out the mechanisms for the occupancy and allocation of affordable properties.
- 4.16 Nomination rights provide for the Council to nominate eligible persons for occupation of affordable dwellings for rent (see paragraph 16 of Model Heads of Terms). The Council's housing service maintains (along with other partners in the Gateway to Home Choice partnership) a Housing Allocations Policy which sets out the way in which properties will be provided to eligible households. Those identified as being in most need will receive priority, within the terms of the Section 106 agreement. Nomination agreements are between the Council and Registered Providers. For specialist housing, nominations are via Adult Social Care, Suffolk County Council.
- 4.17 For forms of discounted market sale housing, the Model Heads of Terms require the owner to agree a procedure with the Council for verifying purchasers prior to commencement. The Council is drafting a process for

- this which will be published on its website. It is not expected that the Council would undertake the task of verifying potential occupants (in relation to First Homes the Council is anticipating a prescribed procedure from the Department of Levelling Up, Homes and Communities).
- 4.18 The Local Connections Cascade, set out in Appendix 2, provides a mechanism for allocating affordable housing to people who have a strong local and/or work connection. This will be applied, as appropriate, to affordable housing delivered through a planning obligation.

Deviating from the Model Heads of Terms and template clauses

- 4.19 As set out above, the Council will expect the Model Heads of Terms and Template Clauses to be applied in all circumstances. However, there may be exceptional circumstances where the Council agree to an alternative approach. Should a developer or applicant need to propose an alternative approach the Council will consider that proposal against the following principles:
 - Any alternative approach must be necessary for securing the required affordable housing;
 - The applicant or developer must provide robust evidence that the affordable housing could not be developed or be retained satisfactorily under the Council's Model Heads of Terms and Template Clauses.

First Homes

4.20 The Government has published template clauses in relation to First Homes which the Council has integrated, where appropriate, into its Model Heads of Terms and Template Clauses. Under the First Homes arrangements, the



local authority will be responsible for certifying potential occupiers qualify to purchase a First Home.

4.21 In terms of phasing, as First Homes would usually be purchased on a property by property basis by occupants (in the same way as market homes are), on larger sites where affordable provision is to come forward in phases the Council would expect First Homes to be spread across phases to ensure continuation of supply and reduce the risk of First Homes reverting to market dwellings.

Varying a Section 106 agreement

- 4.22 The Council recognises that circumstances may change over the course of the development of a site and therefore some flexibility for varying terms of an agreed Section 106 agreement is acknowledged within the Model Heads of Terms, however this can cause uncertainty for communities and will only be agreed to where absolutely necessary.
- 4.23 Where a developer wishes to vary the number or mix of affordable dwellings set out in a Section 106 agreement, which would result in a lower or non-policy compliant provision of affordable housing, the Council will require a viability assessment to be submitted in accordance with the requirements set out in the appendices of the two Local Plans.
- 4.24 The Model Heads of Terms (paragraph 14) set out that the Section 106 agreement should include provisions for circumstances where a Registered Provider cannot be found. The term 'reasonable endeavours' is used. The Council will come to a view as to whether reasonable endeavours have been made, and the party seeking to negotiate the terms of the Section 106 agreement will be expected to demonstrate that they have made proactive

contact with at least five Registered Providers who operate and are actively seeking new housing stock within Suffolk and/or the surrounding area to establish whether they would be interested in taking on the affordable dwellings. The Council provides a list of Registered Providers on its website.23. The Council would expect to see evidence of contact made with Registered Providers, with reasonable offers sought. Following the submission of evidence and prior to any renegotiations of the Section 106, the Council may consider acquiring the homes for inclusion with the Housing Revenue Account portfolio.

- 4.25 Other options could include allowing payment of a commuted sum, providing serviced land at no cost to the Local Authority for development at a later time or the developer providing a reduced number of affordable units at no cost to a Housing Association.
- 4.26 The Model Heads of Terms also include provision for a Registered Provider to convert the tenure of the affordable housing where there are no prospective occupants after a period of 3 months from handover (paragraph 15). In such circumstances the Council will require evidence to be submitted to the satisfaction of the Council, explaining how the dwellings have been marketed and how prospective occupants have been sought.
- 4.27 In the circumstances outlined in the paragraphs above, the Council will consider the precise steps on a case by case basis.

Build to Rent

4.28 Where a development comes forward as Build to Rent, the <u>Planning Practice</u> <u>Guidance</u>²⁴ expects the affordable element will be private affordable rent and that the full scheme would be under common management. The PPG

²³ www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/housing/affordable-housing/registered-housing-providers/

²⁴ www.gov.uk/guidance/build-to-rent#planning-for-build-to-rent



sets out that the process for managing affordable private rent units should be set out in the Section 106 agreement and that this should set out the parameters of the letting's agreement, the rent levels, apportionment of the homes across the development, a management and service agreement, and a marketing agreement setting out how their availability is to be publicised. The Section 106 agreement is also to require build to rent scheme operators to produce an annual statement to authorities, confirming the approach to letting the affordable units, their ongoing

- status, and clearly identifying how the scheme is meeting the overall affordable housing level required in the planning permission. The PPG also expects that the eligibility criteria would be agreed with the local authority and established through the Section 106.
- 4.29 Given that it is not anticipated that a significant number of Build to Rent schemes will be proposed, the Council will consider such proposals and the Section 106 agreements on a case by case basis, including eligibility criteria.

5. Financial Contributions





5. Financial Contributions

- 5.1 Policies SCLP5.10 and WLP8.2, and paragraph 63 of the 2021 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), expect that affordable housing will be provided on site. The provision of affordable housing on site provides a degree of certainty over the provision of the affordable housing and also helps to support mixed and integrated communities.
- 5.2 However, the policies recognise that there may be exceptional circumstances where the affordable housing cannot feasibly be provided on site. This may include developments such as solely flatted development where it is demonstrated that it would be unfeasible for a Registered Provider to manage part of a block; circumstances where the Council is satisfied that the provision of affordable housing on site would not be viable; the amount of affordable housing that could be viably delivered on site would be too small in number for it to be practical to manage by a Registered Provider; or in circumstances where the Council considers that a contribution could enable delivery of a better affordable housing solution. It may be that altering the tenure could result in satisfactory provision on site and would present a better solution for the delivery of affordable housing than the provision of a financial sum.
- 5.3 A financial contribution will also be sought where the requirement of either Policy SCLP5.10 or Policy WLP8.2 would result in a fraction of an affordable house being provided. For example, under Policy SCLP5.10, which requires 1 in 3 dwellings to be affordable on sites of ten or more dwellings or of 0.5ha or more, a development of 11 dwellings would be required to provide 3.67 affordable dwellings. In this case a commuted sum equivalent to 0.67 of an

- affordable dwelling would be sought, along with 3 affordable dwellings provided on site.
- As set out in paragraph 1.11, the Broads Authority are the local planning authority for the part of East Suffolk in the Broads. Policy DM34 of the Broads Local Plan sets out that commuted sums are required on sites of 6-9 dwellings, to be provided in accordance with the standards and policies of the relevant District Council (in this case, the Waveney Local Plan). The guidance set out here may therefore be relevant in the Broads Authority area.

Calculating commuted sums

5.5 Commuted sums will be calculated based on the serviced open market plot values for the size of dwellings that would have been required on site. Serviced open market plot values are used to reflect that had provision been made on site the cost to a Registered Provider would have reflected the build costs. The Council annually updates the evidence of open market plot values and publishes these on the Council's website²⁵, and these values will be used in calculating commuted sums. In circumstances where a developer proposes alternative values, this will need to be justified by the developer to the satisfaction of the Council.

Spending commuted sums

5.6 Where a commuted sum is required, this will be secured through the Section 106 agreement and will be payable at the trigger point set out in the Section 106 agreement. To ensure that suitable options for spending commuted sums can be identified, commuted sums will usually be able to

²⁵ www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/developer-contributions/s106/



- be spent across East Suffolk. This provides greater opportunities for pooling sums and being able to take advantage of opportunities which arise and minimises the risk of sums having to be refunded.
- 5.7 The Council is developing a policy to guide the spending of commuted sums. Through this the Council is proactively working to ensure that sums are spent in a timely manner. This includes providing Registered Providers, community led housing organisations and the housing development service at the Council with an opportunity to apply for the funding.
- 5.8 In exceptional circumstances where commuted sums are received in lieu of provision of First Homes, in accordance with the Planning Practice Guidance on First Homes a proportion will be spent on delivery of First Homes to the equivalent of 25% of the value of affordable housing required. Where a mix of contributions and on-site provision is secured, 25% of the overall value of affordable housing contributions should be applied to First Homes.





6. Exception Sites

- 6.1 An 'exception site' is one where planning permission for open market housing would not normally be granted. The Local Plans contain Settlement Boundaries within which housing development is supported in principle. The policies provide limited opportunities for development outside of Settlement Boundaries, an approach which lowers land values in these locations by removing the 'hope value' for market housing which has a higher value.
- 6.2 Paragraph 78 of the 2021 National Planning Policy Framework sets out that local planning authorities should support opportunities to bring forward rural exception sites that will provide affordable housing to meet identified local needs.
- 6.3 Paragraph 72 of the NPPF also sets out that local authorities should support the development of entry-level exception sites suitable for first time buyers. The recently introduced Planning Practice Guidance on First Homes provides for the development of First Homes exception sites. The principle is similar to other exception sites, however the PPG / NPPF states that entry level and First Home exception sites should not come forward in 'designated rural areas' which includes Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and other locations defined as rural in Section 157 of the Housing Act 1985.
- 6.4 The Council's two Local Plans both contain policies that provide support in principle for the development of affordable housing on exception sites in certain locations:
 - SCLP5.11 Affordable Housing on Exception Sites
 - WLP8.6 Affordable Housing in the Countryside

6.5 The policy approaches in the two Local Plans are largely similar and set out the circumstances under which an exception site will be permitted. Exception sites may be developed and manged by community organisations (such as community led housing groups), Housing Associations or the Council.

Local need

- that cannot be met through existing housing allocations in the Local Plan or relevant Neighbourhood Plan. Policy SCLP5.11 also requires it to be demonstrated that the need cannot be met through development within the Settlement Boundary.
- 25.7 Chapter 8 provides guidance on undertaking local housing needs assessments, and this should inform the identification of need for exception sites. It is expected that the proposed development will be informed through a bottom-up approach of identifying a local need and seeking ways in which this need can be met. Speculative development, not supported by evidence of local need, will not be supported on exception sites. Local need is usually taken to be need identified within a parish boundary. There may also be occasions where an assessment of need is undertaken across more than one parish in such circumstances it should be demonstrated how the location of the proposed development is appropriate for meeting the needs of a wider area. For example, an exception site at a large village could address needs from surrounding smaller villages.
- The policies require applicants to consider whether the need could be met on allocated sites (or in the Settlement Boundary in the case of SCLP5.11). A link should be made with the findings of the housing needs assessment to determine whether these other options could meet the need identified. For



example, if an allocated site is not anticipated to come forward for a number of years it may not help in meeting any immediate needs identified. Opportunities in the Settlement Boundary should also be considered as part of the process of identifying a potentially suitable site for affordable housing, however it must be acknowledged that there may be few genuine opportunities for affordable housing led development as such sites may in principle come forward for market housing.

- 6.9 Need is expected to also be identified to inform proposals for entry level exception sites, in accordance with paragraph 72 of the NPPF which refers to considering whether the need is already being met within the local authority's area. For First Home exception sites, guidance set out in the Planning Practice Guidance on First Homes²⁶, and the Ministerial Statement²⁷ accompanying the PPG also suggests that needs and how they are being met should be considered at the local authority level. However, the Ministerial Statement sets out that local connection criteria may be set where this is supported by evidence of necessity and will not compromise site viability.
- 6.10 The identified need and the area it is intended to serve should help to inform the scale of the proposed development. However, a local needs assessment can over-estimate the actual needs as they may pick up an element of aspirational need and some needs identified may be met in other ways. It is therefore important that assessments are carried out by specialist independent and experienced consultants using a robust methodology.

Location

- 6.11 Policy SCLP5.11 requires that the scheme is adjacent or well related to an identified Settlement Boundary or a cluster of houses in the countryside. Policy WLP8.6 requires that the scheme is adjacent to Corton, a Larger Village, a Smaller Village or other rural settlements within the Countryside.
- 6.12 A 'cluster' is defined in Policy SCLP5.4 Housing in Clusters in the Countryside. The policies allow for exception sites to be developed adjacent (or well related in the case of SCLP5.11) to clusters (Suffolk Coastal) and other rural settlements in the countryside (Waveney) in acknowledgement that although these locations may not have the level of services and facilities to have a Settlement Boundary, they do in many cases function as a community and needs for affordable housing may otherwise not be able to be met. Clusters and other rural settlements in the Countryside are not listed in the Local Plans and it will need to be demonstrated why the location is considered to fall within this category and is a suitable location to support development of affordable housing, with reference to the identified local needs. Where the proposal is seeking to meet the needs identified across a number of settlements, it is expected that consideration is given to settlement size and level of service provision in identifying a suitable site (i.e. a larger settlement may be a more sustainable location than a smaller settlement).
- 6.13 Policy SCLP5.11 allows for exception sites in locations 'well related to' as well as adjacent to Settlement Boundaries and clusters. 'Well related' is not defined in the policy but it is expected that future occupants would identify with the host settlement and that suitable pedestrian/cycling access exists or can be provided to access services and facilities i.e., on an appropriately

²⁶ www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes

²⁷ https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2021-05-24/hlws48



surfaced route and of a distance where most users could be expected to walk or cycle.

6.14 Not all settlements and clusters, particularly the smaller ones, will be suitable locations for an affordable housing exception site.

Housing mix

- 6.15 Policies SCLP5.11 and WLP8.6 require that the scheme incorporates a range of dwelling sizes, types and tenures appropriate to the identified local need. SCLP5.11 also requires that this includes the needs for affordable housing for older people.
- 6.16 The housing mix provided should be informed by the assessment of local needs, and it will be expected that any local housing needs survey will seek to identify the needs for specific tenures.
- 6.17 Affordable housing tenures will be expected to comply with the definitions set out in the NPPF (along with First Homes which is a new tenure established through the introduction of Planning Practice Guidance). Housing that does not fall within the definition of affordable housing will not be supported, unless proposed as part of a market housing element for viability reasons (see below).

 $\underline{www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/First-Draft-Local-Plan/SCDC-Landscape-Character-Assessment.pdf$

Settlement Sensitivity Analysis Volume 1: Landscape Fringes of Ipswich (2018)

www.easts uffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Local-Plan-Review/Evidence-base/Settlement-Sensitivity-Assessment-Volume-1-July-2018.pdf

Settlement Sensitivity Analysis Volume 2: Suffolk Coastal (2018)

Character and setting of the settlement

- 6.18 Policies SCLP5.11 and WLP8.6 require that the location, scale and design standard of a scheme will retain or enhance the character and setting of the settlement. Policy SCLP5.11 also requires that it will not lead to settlement coalescence.
- 6.19 By their very nature, exception sites have a greater potential to impact on the character of the landscape due to their location on the edge of or well related to existing settlements.
- 6.20 As stated above, it is expected that the scale of a scheme will be informed by an assessment of local need for affordable housing, but it should also be informed by the location and the size and characteristics of the host settlement.
- 6.21 Consideration should be given to the Landscape Character Assessments and Settlement Sensitivity Assessments which form part of the evidence base of the Local Plans²⁸. Where Neighbourhood Plans exist, there may be further local landscape evidence and/or policies that will be relevant to consider.
- 6.22 It is expected that the design and layout will reflect the landscape character and the character of the built environment which it adjoins. Existing important landscape features such as trees and hedgerows should be retained where possible.

https://eastsuffolk.inconsult.uk/gf2.ti/f/1006178/53423077.1/PDF/-

<u>/D22 Settlement Sensitivity Assessment Volume 2 Suffolk Coastal July 2018 reduced.pdf</u> Landscape Character Assessment (2008) (Waveney)

 $\underline{www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Waveney-Local-Plan/Background-Studies/Landscape-Character-Assessment.pdf$

Settlement Fringe Sensitivity Study (2016) (Waveney)

 $\underline{www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Waveney-Local-Plan/First-Draft-Local-Plan/Settlement-Fringe-Landscape-Sensitivity-Study.pdf$

²⁸ Suffolk Coastal Landscape Character Assessment (2018)



Market housing

6.23 Policies SCLP5.11 and WLP8.6 both provide scope for an element of market housing to be provided on site where this is necessary to cross-subsidise the affordable housing. The amount proposed would need to be demonstrated to be necessary through a viability assessment. Appendix G of the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan and Appendix 5 of the Waveney Local Plan set out the requirements for undertaking viability assessment, and it is expected that this will be followed when proposing an exception site which includes an element of market housing. Whilst both policies provide for up to one third of the total dwellings to be market housing, this should be viewed as a maximum. The Council will not support any greater number of market homes than is necessary to facilitate the delivery of affordable housing. Chapter 7 provides guidance on tenure blind design, and this will apply to exception sites with an element of market housing.

Bringing forward an exception site

- 6.24 The Council's Housing Enabling Strategy sets out its commitment to supporting communities and partners in meeting local housing need. The strategy acknowledges that this may be through the identification of rural exception sites with local communities or community led housing groups, parish councils and registered providers.
- 6.25 The Council offers support to Community Led Housing groups, such as Community Land Trusts, Cohousing or Cooperative Housing Societies, in bringing forward suitable rural exception sites to meet identified local needs for affordable housing. Where community groups wish to bring

forward a development, the support offered will include early input from the planning service. Table 6.1 overleaf sets out the process that the Council would expect a community group to go through, in terms of activities that are relevant to the consideration of a planning application. The principal point of contact, other than for formal pre-application and planning application stages, is expected to be the Council's Housing Enabling Team who will co-ordinate input from other Council officers. The Council publishes its pre-application fees on its website²⁹ and may offer pre-application advice free for some affordable housing proposals (as per any details set out in the fee schedule at the time of seeking advice). Table 6.1 is directed primarily towards community led schemes and it is acknowledged that other groups such as Registered Providers may follow an approach suited to their organisation. However, early engagement with the Housing Enabling Team should take place.

Occupancy of affordable housing on exception sites

6.26 Affordable housing delivered as an exception site will initially be allocated to people who have a strong local and/or work connection. For rural exception sites the local connections cascade set out in the model Heads of Terms in Appendix 2 provides the basis for local connection criteria, and the cascade is expected to reflect the needs the development is seeking to meet. The model Heads of Terms set out that the local connections cascade should require a minimum period of 3 months advertising to the initial cascade. On rural exception sites, the affordable housing must be retained as such in perpetuity.

²⁹ www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/planning-applications-and-enforcement/find-out-if-you-need-planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/



Table 6.1: Bringing forward an Exception Site – Recommended Process

Stage	Activities	Role of the Council
Identifying a local need for affordable housing	See the guidance in Chapter 8 of this SPD. Community engagement is crucial.	Housing Enabling Team able to provide guidance. Input will be sought from the Planning Policy and Delivery team and Development Management team on the process / content of proposed methods for identifying local needs, in terms of likely compliance with policies and the guidance in the SPD.
Identifying sites	An appropriate area of search should be established in which to identify potential sites. Consideration to also be given to the scale of site being sought and the type of housing it is expected to accommodate based on the housing needs survey. The Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessments, which form part of the evidence bases for the Local Plans, may provide a useful starting point along with local promotion of the search for suitable sites.	Housing Enabling Team to co-ordinate advice on potential sites from Planning Policy and Delivery team and Development Management team. This may include site visits. This should be sought at an early stage in order to inform site selection.
Proposed site – pre-application advice	It is recommended that pre-application advice be sought from Planning on the site proposed. This will enable advice to be given in relation to any outstanding concerns from the site selection process, detailed matters and the submission of appropriate information.	Development Management to provide preapplication advice in line with the provisions of the pre-application advice service ³⁰ .
Planning Application	Preparation and submission of a planning application for the proposed development site. If there has been significant pre-	Planning application to be submitted to and considered by Development

 $[\]frac{30}{www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/planning-applications-and-enforcement/find-out-if-you-need-planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/planning-permission-permi$



application engagement, as set out above, a Management. The planning application may detailed planning application rather than detailed process is explained on the Council's website³¹.

be determined by Planning Committee. outline may be the most suitable route. The Housing Enabling Team is a consultee on planning applications.

³¹ www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/planning-applications-and-enforcement/planning-application-process/





7. Design

Design: a strategic priority

- 7.1 The design quality of the district's housing stock and the neighbourhoods within which they sit is important for achieving the respective visions and strategic priorities of the two Local Plans. The Local Plans' respective design policies are intended to help deliver the ambitions of the strategic priorities which seek to achieve well-designed built environments. The relevant strategic priorities of the two Plans therefore form the fundamental objectives of the Local Plans' key design policies, acting as 'golden threads' running through them. The strategic priorities relevant to the design of residential developments are broadly the same across both Plans, and can be summarised as:
 - To support healthy, safe, cohesive, and active communities through improving health, wellbeing and education opportunities for all.
 - To enhance and protect the natural, built and historic environment and provide accessible green infrastructure and public open spaces.
 - Enhance the vitality and viability of town centres and villages.
 - Promote high quality design and significantly improve the quality of urban design across the Local Plan areas; and
 - Mitigate human impact on the environment and reduce contributions to climate change and conserve natural resources.

- 7.2 The design policies set out the overall level of design quality that the Council would expect when assessing planning proposals for housing and housing-led developments.
- 7.3 Between them, the Local Plans aim to deliver over 20,000 dwellings throughout the plan period to 2036. It is anticipated that a significant amount of these dwellings will be affordable homes, and it is equally important that these homes are well-designed in terms of their overall material quality, appearance, size, usability for the needs of their resident households, and their relationship with the overall site, its community infrastructure (green and blue infrastructure, any communal facilities, shops and services within the development, etc.), and the wider environment.

What is good design?

- 'Good' design in the built environment can mean different things to different people, particularly from an aesthetic perspective. However, usability for its intended purpose by its intended users, and the designing-in of resilience for meeting future needs, challenges and change are universal fundamental principles of sustainable, good design.
- 7.5 A good design approach therefore starts with how spaces and buildings are intended to feel and function for the people that live, work and play in them to optimise their experience (health and wellbeing) and productivity (ability to carry out intended functions). Design decisions shape places, spaces and lived experiences at all scales of development from the decision to increase a dwelling's internal space to accommodate a dining area large enough to seat the whole family, right up to the creation of a network of high-quality cycling and walking routes for a new community that facilitates safe cycling to work, school, and to important local services.

- 7.6 The design of places and spaces therefore has a significant impact on the lifestyles, health, wellbeing and overall quality of life available to everyone that lives in, works in and regularly visits them. It is well understood that the quality of a person's housing and the neighbourhood within which it sits are important determinants of their physical and mental health. From the immediate day-to-day impacts on their body and mind such as the ability to access a healthy diet, physical activity, their level of car dependency, pollution exposure, social interaction/isolation, etc, to their overall ability to live a socially, environmentally, and economically sustainable, and active lifestyle. Everyone benefits from raising the general levels of population health and community interactivity within and across neighbourhoods—and good design supports this by default.
- 7.7 Good design is an art, and therefore there is no 'one size fits all' definition of how it will look and function on every site, at all scales and in all settings.
- 7.8 The Local Plans' design policies, along with other guidance such as that contained in Development Brief SPDs, set out the Council's expectations for proposals to achieve high standards of design. Paragraph 134 of the 2021 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states:

"Development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes. Conversely, significant weight should be given to:

a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance on design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary planning documents such as design guides and codes; and/or

b) outstanding or innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability, or help raise the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.".

7.9 This chapter of the SPD therefore provides guidance on the key design policies that determine what the Council would support as an appropriate and high-quality approach to the design of mixed-tenure or exclusively affordable housing residential development.



- 7.10 This chapter's key message is that the Council expects the same high quality of design regardless of tenure type and expects the affordable tenure element of a mixed-tenure scheme to be indistinguishable from the market tenure element.
- 7.11 The Council also expects site layouts and community facilities and amenities (i.e. shared at site-level, such as communal parking areas, green/blue infrastructure, children's play areas, trim trails/outdoor gyms, bin storage areas, etc.) to be designed for fair and equal access for all tenures included on site. Together this approach is referred to throughout this document as 'tenure-blind design'.
- 7.12 The key design policies are listed at the start of this chapter, however, both of the Local Plans feature other more 'general' policies that inform how residential development should be designed (some varying according to the scale of the development), and therefore should also be given regard to. These more general design policies relate to designing for sustainable transport, sustainable construction, parking standards, open space provision and retaining landscape character all of which must apply equally regardless of tenure. Site allocation policies will often also include site-specific design criteria. Where relevant to residential design, the Council expects the criteria to be met in accordance with the tenure-blind design principles outlined in this chapter.

Tenure-blind design: policy context

7.13 The NPPF calls for planners and decision-makers to ensure that, amongst other considerations, development produces healthy, inclusive and safe places, stating the importance of creating:

"...places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience" (paragraph 130 (f)).

- 7.14 Like the Local Plans, the NPPF should be read as a whole. However, the Chapters most relevant to residential design for healthy communities are:
 - 8 Promoting healthy and safe communities
 - 9 Promoting sustainable transport
 - 12 Achieving well-designed places

The <u>National Design Guide</u>³² directly supports tenure-blind, or here referred to as 'tenure neutral', design under paragraph 116, which states that mixed-tenure developments can be considered well-designed when "...they are well-integrated and designed to the same high quality to create tenure neutral homes and spaces, where no tenure is disadvantaged".

7.15 Tenure-blind design is also referred to directly in the First Homes Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), paragraph 6, which reads "First Homes should be

³² https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da ta/file/962113/National_design_guide.pdf



physically indistinguishable from the equivalent market homes in terms of quality and size".

- 7.16 Tenure-blind design is directly required in Local Plan policy through the following three key design policies:
 - Policy SCLP11.1 Design Quality
 - Policy WLP8.2 Affordable Housing
 - Policy WLP8.29 Design
- 7.17 Policy WLP8.2 Affordable Housing, amongst other policy criteria, states that in the Waveney Local Plan area:
 - "...affordable housing should be indistinguishable from market housing in terms of the location, external appearance, design, standards and build quality and should meet all requirements of the design policies"
- 7.18 Policy SCLP11.1 Design Quality requires tenure-blind design by referring the reader to the Building for a Healthy Life guidelines (formerly Building for Life 12), which in turn advises that, in order to earn a 'green' (positive) score, the development should constitute:
 - "...homes and streets where it is difficult to determine the tenure of properties through architectural, landscape or other differences"; "apartment buildings might separate tenure by core but each core must look exactly the same" (p.35).
- 7.19 The policy context clearly sets out how 'tenure-blind design' can be understood and applied. Therefore, any level of distinction or inferior

- specification used in the shell or plot design, or disadvantage caused by the overall site design or layout should be avoided.
- 7.20 The main design policies of both Local Plans (Policy SCLP11.1 Design Quality and Policy WLP8.29 Design) each make direct reference to the Building for Life 12 design guide, which was intended to be used by developers of major residential development proposals to inform good design approaches, and to help give structure to design discussions between local communities, local planning authorities, developers and other stakeholders. It also facilitated the post-delivery assessment of developments against the twelve design criteria questions, with developments that scored positively made eligible to receive (and to market that they had received) the 'Built for Life' quality commendation.
- 7.21 However, this has since been updated and superseded by 'Building for a Healthy Life: A Design Toolkit for neighbourhoods, streets, homes and public spaces' (2020)³³guidance. This document is applied by the Council for informing the assessment of design quality in major residential proposals and for recommendations at the pre-application advice stage in accordance with paragraph 133 of the NPPF. As this document has replaced Building for Life 12, references in the design policies to Building for Life 12 are to be taken to be references to Building for a Healthy Life.
- 7.22 The Building for a Healthy Life guidelines similarly score identified indicators of design quality, though with an updated emphasis on the facilitation of a healthy life as the overall objective of good design. As with Building for Life 12, if the development scores a sufficiently high overall score it can be

³³ www.udg.org.uk/publications/othermanuals/building-healthy-life

awarded a Building for a Healthy Life (BHL) Commendation, which can be used as a quality mark to market to prospective buyers and occupiers.

- 7.23 Other Supplementary Planning Documents that the Council has prepared may also provide guidance, where relevant to the design of affordable housing. These include Development Brief Supplementary Planning Documents (being prepared for some sites allocated in the Local Plans), the Historic Environment Supplementary Planning Document (2021), the Sustainable Construction Supplementary Planning Document (2022) and the Healthy Environments Supplementary Planning Document (under preparation).
- 7.24 Many Neighbourhood Plans also have policies relating to design which would apply to proposals involving affordable housing.
- 7.25 The forthcoming Suffolk Design Guide and the Suffolk Design for Streets Guide are relevant for the consideration of design matters at street, site, and neighbourhood scale. The Council is also preparing an East Suffolk Cycling and Walking Strategy, which identifies important strategic and local level improvements to facilitate the further uptake of cycling and walking as a form of sustainable transport for commuting, essential and leisure trips, and to improve the safety, comfort, and enjoyment of these trips.
- 7.26 A number of other local and national documents are relevant when considering the design of residential development, such as the National Design Guide³⁴. There are also other civil society guidelines and certification schemes which support the delivery of good design principles, such as The

<u>Quality of Life Framework</u>³⁵ (2021) and the <u>Building with Nature</u> Standards³⁶.



Tenure-blind design: key design principles

- 7.27 The Council expects tenure-blind design in all design aspects of the elevations and plot, and in access to the property.
- 7.28 Tenure-blind design does not mean that all units on a site need to look the same. Together with a suitably size-varied housing mix, the Council encourages designers to consider their site's potential to take on a variety of different elevation and plot morphologies styles, materials, shapes, heights and densities and to create distinctive character areas within sites that relate well to each other and the overall form and layout of their

³⁴ www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-design-guide

³⁵ www.qolf.org/

³⁶ www.buildingwithnature.org.uk



surroundings. The key is for equivalent size dwellings of different tenure types within a design typology present on site to look the same.

Tenure-blind design: shell and plot considerations

7.29 Tenure-blind design principles applied at 'shell' (i.e. the building itself) and plot level is critical to achieving socially sustainable development. However, tenure-blind design should not be limited to the appearance or size of units' shells or plots – there are other physical elements that can also indicate tenure type.

To successfully achieve tenure-blind design at both the shell and plot level, the Council would expect to see:

- Comparable overall sizing of dwellings. For dwellings intended for affordable rent tenure, the internal sizing of bedrooms and the dwelling's layout should maximise the number of people that can be housed (e.g. an affordable rent two bedroom dwelling can house four people; an affordable rent three bedroom home can house five or six people, and so on), to provide flexibility on family size occupying the property. If affordable dwellings are proposed to be smaller than equivalent market dwellings the applicant will be expected to demonstrate why this is appropriate. Floorspace measurements on a plot by plot and tenure by tenure basis are expected to be submitted with a planning application; reference to the Nationally Described Space Standards in the design and submission of plans is encouraged.
- Consistent application of decorative elements of the design and materials - such as finials, brickwork or boundary treatments – rather than it being limited to 'core' design elements such as window types used;

- Consistent sizing and treatment of residential garden space and landscaping;
- Where on-plot parking (i.e. off-street) is provided, affordable dwellings' parking provision has regard to the Suffolk Guidance for Parking (as per Policies SCLP7.2 and WLP8.21);
- Apartment blocks that are mixed-tenure, rather than single-tenure, are preferred where this can be accommodated, though it is understood that some Registered Providers are less willing to take on mixed-tenure apartment blocks;
- Where provided, mixed-tenure apartment blocks should have a shared entrance and core (shared internal areas such as stairwells), rather than separate entrances and cores according to tenure-type. Individual front doors at street level can also provide both visual and social benefits. Where a shared entrance and/or shared core have not been possible, the entrances and cores are expected to look the same as the other tenure's entrance and core. The design approach to separate entrances should not be limited to just the doors of the entrance, but should include equalising other entrance elements used such as (as applicable) the use of shelter, lighting, surfacing materials, and any landscaping/planting used around it or along the path approaching the entrance.

Internal space

7.30 Another general design consideration for residential development is the impact of internal size, layout, fittings, storage and the extent of designed-in space flexibility for future occupants; these considerations are particularly relevant to future occupants that will be renting their home, as they may have been limited in their initial choice of rental property



and then are limited in their ability to change, customise or extend the property's internal space post-occupation.

7.31 Available internal space, the quality of the space for its intended function(s), and how flexible the space is for different uses can have a big impact on health, wellbeing and relationships within households. For example, a very small kitchen will make preparing family meals from scratch difficult. Similarly, a lack of internal living space can mean that a family are unable to eat together at a table, so instead eat separately, and may choose to eat sat in front of a television ('distracted eating' has been linked to higher caloric intake). Regarding employment and education opportunities, not having a dining or other suitable study area may rule out working from home for the household's adult(s), and smaller bedroom sizes that exclude the fitting of a study desk may mean the household's children have nowhere suitable and quiet to complete their homework. In terms of sustainable lifestyles, poor design may also mean, particularly if teamed with a lack of external space provision, that the household have nowhere to store bicycles, precluding them from participating in regular cycling despite its benefits for the health of people and planet. The internal size and layout of proposed residential units will therefore be assessed in terms of whether they are reasonable and conducive to a home that supports good health and quality of life. The internal size, layout and specification (i.e. fixtures and fittings) are recommended to be discussed at an early stage with Registered Providers that may be interested in purchasing the dwellings.

7.32 Increased internal space doesn't just mean a separate playroom, more storage or a better kitchen, it can also increase the property's accessibility. People with reduced mobility are particularly vulnerable to low-quality design. Accessibility for people using a wheelchair or walking aid is increased when internal dimensions allow for turning circles, use of appliances (e.g. accessing the oven) and transitions throughout the rooms and floors (where applicable) of the dwelling. The Local Plan policies SCLP5.8 and WLP8.31 require a stated proportion (50% & 40% respectively) of dwellings to be built in accordance with Part M4(2) 'accessible and adaptable dwellings standards' of the Building Regulations, which include minimum internal dimensions to future-proof homes and allow safe movement, (and the designing-in of space flexibility for necessary subsequent adaptations) for occupants should they need adaptations to the dwelling for wheelchair accessibility in the future (for example, in multiple storey properties, internal space made available for the later fitting of a lift).





7.33 Private external space was also evidenced to have been a huge asset for people's health and wellbeing during the Covid-19 pandemic - even if it was just having their own private balcony. Where the provision of even a minimal appropriate amount of external private space is not possible, the provision or improvement of high quality public green space and semi-private community green spaces (such as allotment sites or community gardens) may go a long way towards improving the quality of life for those without private external space access.

Tenure-blind design: site-level

7.34 Tenure-blind design also requires regard to off-plot, site-level design elements that may otherwise indicate the property's tenure. Consideration should therefore be given to the inclusivity of the layout and function of the site as a whole, avoiding imbalances that may unreasonably impact the experience of living there for affordable housing occupiers (such as placing all of the affordable housing along the site's main vehicular access route). Consideration should also be given to how the site integrates into and enhances the inclusivity and functionality of the existing surrounding built environment, and wider settlement and landscape in which it is located or is adjacent to.

To achieve tenure-blind design at site level, the Council would expect to see:

• Well integrated and fairly distributed morphologies and densities present on the site across the different tenure types — key questions: has one tenure been exclusively represented, or relatively over-represented in any one morphology present on site? Has a different materials palette been used exclusively for a single tenure type? Has a disproportionate number of higher-density units been proposed as affordable dwellings?

- Proportionate clustering of affordable housing non-contiguous clusters of up to 10 affordable dwellings are generally considered an appropriate maximum to support the creation of diverse and inclusive communities.
- A layout which means that exposure to potential environmental stressors (such as noise/vibration from roads or railway lines, air and light pollution reduced privacy from overlooking, etc.) will not disproportionately impact affordable housing occupants (more generally, it would be expected that the potential impacts of the identified stressor would be adequately mitigated for all users of the site). Similarly, the Council would expect affordable housing to be distributed throughout the site in a way that meant affordable housing occupants were not in any way disadvantaged in their access to residential amenities (children's play areas, green space, communal parking areas, etc.);
- Where communal parking areas are provided instead of on-plot parking spaces, the affordable dwellings have parking provision access consistent with the current revision of the Suffolk Guidance for Parking. An overall approach to movement throughout the site is expected to be consistent with policies SCLP7.1 Sustainable Transport, SCLP7.2 Parking Proposals and Standards, and WLP8.21 Sustainable Transport, regardless of tenure;
- Where other communal site facilities such as bin storage areas, visitor cycle parking, electric vehicle charging points etc. are provided, affordable homes are expected to be located within reasonable and convenient reach of them;

- Consistent access to on-site green infrastructure and sustainable transport infrastructure (including walking and cycling), across market and affordable tenures;
- Consistent quality, nature, size and proximity of open spaces and children's play spaces across tenures;

Housing mix: sizes and types

- 7.35 Together with achieving the appropriate tenure split, new housing development is expected to deliver a mix of housing sizes (number of bedrooms) and in some cases, types, such as housing built to M4(2) 'accessible and adaptable dwellings' standard, or M4(3) 'wheelchair user dwellings' standard, as per Part M of the Building Regulations (where required by the Council).
- 7.36 Residential development proposals for specialist accommodation will also be supported by the Council, in accordance with identified housing need in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment or latest equivalent assessment of the housing area (see Chapters 3 and 8). Affordable specialist accommodation schemes (including those falling under C2 use class) may come forward as part of a wider scheme of either (market) specialist or a mix of specialist and non-specialist accommodation, or could potentially come forward solely for affordable specialist housing. Where part of a mix, as far as is practicable tenure-blind design principles should apply to specialist accommodation, although it is acknowledged that regardless of tenure specialist accommodation may for functional reasons need to look different to non-specialist accommodation.
- 7.37 The Housing Mix policies of both Local Plans encourage a focus on developing smaller dwellings, which are stated as being one and two bedroom dwellings. Though this is intended to help to meet the needs of

older people (who typically form one or two person households, and typically wish to downsize from larger family homes), smaller units can also meet the needs of other households such as sharers (small House in Multiple Occupation properties) and households without dependent children.

Housing mix: achieving appropriate density across tenure types

7.38 A key consideration regarding density and affordable housing, is to ensure that, where multiple levels of density co-exist on a site, a tenure type present on site is not easily identified by being exclusively at one density (for example, all of the highest-density apartment blocks on the site are exclusively affordable) or significantly concentrated at one density (i.e. most of the apartment blocks). It should be ensured that not only are a mix of sizes (number of bedrooms) well distributed across different tenures, but also different densities, where multiple density levels occur on a site.

Designing for accessibility, adaptability and dementia friendly design across all tenures

- 7.39 Accessibility can be considered under two main categories within the home and out in the public realm. Within the home, Parts M4(2) and M4(3) of the Building Regulations set out standards for achieving accessible and adaptable dwellings and wheelchair user dwellings, respectively.
- 7.40 The Local Plans include a requirement for at least 50% (SCLP5.8) / 40% (WLP8.31) of all dwellings to be built to Building Regulation M4(2) 'accessible and adaptable dwellings' standards on sites of 10 or more dwellings. Under Suffolk Coastal Local Plan policy SCLP5.8 all specialist dwellings must meet M4(2) standards. Chapter 3 'Identifying an appropriate

mix of affordable housing' provides further guidance on achieving Part M4(2) 'accessible and adaptable dwellings' and Part M4(3) 'wheelchair user dwellings' compliance.

- 7.41 Fundamentally, building to M4(2) standard makes the transitional areas (hallways, stairs, doorways, the area around the bed in bedrooms, around kitchen units and appliances in kitchen areas, and spaces within bathrooms) larger, and the approach route, car parking/drop-off area, private entrance or communal entrance and lifts (where applicable) more suitable for those with reduced mobility. M4(2) standard homes also facilitate adaptation of the home to become suitable for wheelchair users should they need this level of accessibility in the future. M4(3) standard homes are designed to meet the needs of current wheelchair users.
- 7.42 It is expected that the tenure split of dwellings to be delivered to M4(2) standards between market and affordable, and between home ownership and rental homes, will reflect the context that disabled people are more likely to rent affordable housing and are less likely to own their own home than non-disabled people³⁷. It is therefore expected that a higher proportion of the M4(2) homes required to be delivered on site will be allocated to affordable housing, focusing in particular on affordable rental tenures. As with the mix of sizes (number of bedrooms) and types (houses, flats, etc.) required on site, engagement with the Council's Housing Enabling team on the priorities for M4(2) dwellings on sites are as per current housing need is highly encouraged. Regardless of tenure type, all specialist dwellings in the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area as per Policy SCLP5.8 will be

expected to meet the requirements for the M4(2) 'accessible and adaptable dwellings' standards.

- 7.43 Both Local Plans recognise that the population of the district is ageing, and the district's need for affordable housing is not limited to younger or working-age people. Policy SCLP5.10 therefore specifically states that affordable housing delivered on residential sites should meet local needs including those of older people.
- 7.44 In terms of accessibility in the public realm, the policies of the Local Plans (principally SCLP11.1 Design Quality and WLP8.31 Lifetime Design) expect that new development will adopt the principles of dementia-friendly design, and these principles apply equally to the public realm around and accessibility to affordable housing as they do to market housing. Proposals should create permeable and legible developments which are easily accessed and used by all, regardless of age, mobility and disability, across all tenures. All proposals should demonstrate that the design supports the needs of older people and those with dementia through the adoption of dementia-friendly design principles. All housing developments of ten or more dwellings in the Suffolk Coastal area are also expected to demonstrate how they will contribute to meeting the needs of older people, regardless of tenure type.

 $^{^{37}}$ According to Office for National Statistics data on disability and housing (released 10 February 2022), nearly 1 in 4 (24.9%) disabled people aged 16 to 64 years in the UK rented social housing compared with fewer than 1 in 10 (7.9%) non-disabled people; they were also less likely to own their own home (39.7%) and less likely to live with parents (16.4%) than non-disabled people

^{(53.3%} and 19.2% respectively) (year ending June 2021). Dataset available at: www.ons.gov.uk/releases/outcomesfordisabledpeopleintheuk2021.



Designing according to developable area and appropriate density

- 7.45 All residential development at the scale thresholds set in Policy SCLP5.10: Affordable Housing on Residential Developments (development with capacity for 10 units or more, or sites of 0.5ha or more) and Policy WLP8.2 Affordable Housing (sites with a capacity of 11 dwellings or more) are expected to develop the site at an appropriate density (for the location and to meet the needs of the intended occupants) and to make the most efficient and effective use of the site. Inefficient use of land to deliver development below the threshold for affordable housing will therefore not be supported.
- 7.46 Paragraph 5.66 in the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan states that in determining whether a site has capacity for more than ten units, consideration will be given to the potential developable area of a site and an appropriate density for development that accords with Policy SCLP11.1 Design Quality.
- 7.47 Policy WLP8.32 Housing Density and Design states that development should make the best use of a site in a manner that protects or enhances the distinctiveness and character of the area and takes into account the physical environment of the site and its surroundings. Development proposals in and adjacent to the built-up area of Lowestoft and the market towns should aim for urban scale development at a density of at least 30 dwellings per hectare, unless local character indicates otherwise. Some of the site-specific policies within the Waveney Local Plan specify a dwellings per hectare figure within the policy wording.
- 7.48 Where an applicant expects the delivery of a development to come forward in phases, it is expected that the intentions for the future phases of the site

will be clearly set out. Land parcels should not be divided to avoid triggering the requirement for affordable housing.

Layout: distribution of affordable homes

- 7.49 Affordable housing is usually delivered in clusters, which is understood to be important for operational and management reasons. However, this needs to be balanced with the ambition to create inclusive and socially sustainable developments that help to build communities by supporting increased social interaction across different groups. A cluster of affordable housing in this context is considered by the Council to be a group of up to ten affordable dwellings with no 'gaps' created by green/open space, land in other uses, or market tenure homes in between, and is not contiguous with another cluster.
- 7.50 Clustering is covered in the Building for a Healthy Life guidelines, which both Local Plans' respective main design policies make reference to. The Building for a Healthy Life guidance describes "affordable homes that are distributed across a development" ('pepper-potting') as positive, and "grouping affordable homes in one place (except on smaller developments)" as negative.
- 7.51 'Pepper-potting', be it the scattering of individual dwellings or of clusters of up to ten dwellings, is considered to be the best approach to affordable housing distribution for supporting health, well-being and social cohesion, and meeting the needs of Registered Providers. This approach helps to ensure affordable tenures are not over-represented in any one area of the site (except on small sites), and that clusters are not contiguous with each other.



Sustainable construction

- 7.52 Affordable housing units are expected to be built to the same levels of sustainable construction and energy efficiency through sustainable construction methods as market value units; all elements of both Local Plans' sustainable construction policies (Policy SCLP9.2 and Policy 8.28) apply regardless of tenure type.
- 7.53 Designing for year-round solar gain and solar shading helps to ensure that homes are warmer in the winter and cooler in the summer, and if teamed with high-quality insulation materials and installation methods, will retain a more constant temperature, therefore lessening the need for central heating use, thus lowering the household bills of future occupants. Whilst this is important for housing of all tenure types, this is a particularly pertinent consideration for affordable housing units as it has the potential to significantly reduce energy costs for those most in need of reduced household bills.



7.54 The cost and energy efficiency of affordable homes may also benefit from modern methods of construction to produce sections of the building's shell

off-site under factory conditions that can then be assembled on site, at a lower cost and level of embodied carbon than a traditional build. This may also have the added benefit of making it easier to achieve higher levels of air tightness and energy and sound insulation than traditional on-site construction, providing multiple operational benefits to Registered Providers and future occupants of the homes.

7.55 More information on sustainable construction methods that are encouraged by the Council to meet the energy efficiency policy criteria set is available in the Council's Sustainable Construction Supplementary Planning Document.

Exception sites: affordable housing in the Countryside

- 7.56 Chapter 6 sets out more detailed guidance on the principle of and evidence behind bringing forward affordable housing on exception sites.
- 7.57 Regarding the design of exception sites, the Local Plans both have Settlement Hierarchy policies that differentiate between settlements that are considered to be able to support further residential growth in principle, and those that cannot. The categorisation process was undertaken in accordance with the level of services, facilities and infrastructure that the settlements had been identified as having at the time the two Local Plans were being prepared; this meant that not all recognisable settlements were given policy-defined Settlement Boundaries. The Local Plans define all land outside of defined Settlement Boundaries as the 'Countryside', which has the effect of substantially reducing the scope for housing development to be considered acceptable in planning terms in these areas. One of the potential exceptions to this is for affordable housing schemes which may be able to be delivered in the



Countryside under limited circumstances. The limited circumstances are set out in the respective policies (Policy SCLP5.11 Affordable Housing on Exception Sites and Policy WLP8.6 Affordable Housing in the Countryside) and the NPPF.



- 7.58 Policies SCLP5.11 and WLP8.6 expect that exception sites will retain or enhance the character and setting of the settlement. Because these sites would be located in the Countryside (i.e. outside of Settlement Boundaries), the design of such development will need to be appropriate and sensitive to the Countryside location and have a design relationship with the character of the built form of the adjacent settlement or housing cluster.
- 7.59 The design should therefore be appropriate to the character of existing buildings in the adjacent settlement through the use of appropriate materials, heights, proportions, density and detailing. The respective

Landscape Character Assessments³⁸ that have been produced to accompany the two Local Plans will be useful reference sources in considering the impact on the setting of the settlement. The Suffolk Coast and Heaths Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) <u>Guidance on the Selection and Use of Colour</u>³⁹ document should also help to inform the design of affordable housing for sites within the AONB.

- 7.60 The scale of an exception site should also be appropriate to its location. Exception sites should be of a scale that is both reflective of the local housing need and appropriate to the character and scale of the settlement. The exception site should represent planned incremental growth and not dominate the existing settlement. Exception sites should also not lead to coalescence or the perception of coalescence between two settlements.
- 7.61 On mixed-tenure schemes where a minor element of market housing has been included to cross-subsidise the affordable homes being delivered, the market element should be subordinate in scale to the amount of affordable housing. For the avoidance of doubt, where mixed-tenure sites are considered appropriate on exception sites, the Council expects the development to be tenure-blind in design and appearance.
- 7.62 Policy SCLP5.11 Affordable Housing on Exception Sites also provides opportunities for the delivery of affordable specialist accommodation on sites outside of but adjacent or well related to Settlement Boundaries.
- 7.63 Neighbourhood Plans, where they are in place, may contain design policies that would be relevant to the design of an exception site.

³⁸ Available at https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy-and-local-plans/local-plans/local-plans/local-plans/local-plan-evidence-base/

 $^{{\}color{red}^{39}} \ \underline{www.suffolkcoastandheaths.org/managing/planning/guidance-for-planning-in-the-aonb/}$

8. Local Housing Needs Assessments





8. Local Housing Needs Assessments

- Policies SCLP5.11 and WLP8.2 of the Local Plans are centred upon supporting affordable housing proposals as exceptions to usual planning policy for housing, where this is to meet a local need for affordable housing. Crucially the starting point must therefore be understanding what the local need for affordable housing is, as this will inform the location, scale and tenure of affordable housing. The Council will expect to see that a robust assessment of local need has been undertaken in accordance with the principles and guidance set out below.
- 8.2 Local housing need assessments may also be relevant to other developments of affordable housing, or for example to Neighbourhood Plan groups in preparing policies on affordable housing, and therefore the guidance in this section of the SPD is not limited to exception sites. Where affordable housing is required as part of a residential development it is not necessary for this to be evidenced by a local housing need assessment where a proposal is policy compliant, however where one exists it may help to inform the tenure and mix of affordable housing provision.

Data and information sources

- 8.3 It is first necessary to define the area where the need for affordable housing is being assessed. In most cases this is likely to be the parish, however, this may extend to a group of parishes for example where a single parish is too small or a group of parishes have a close functional relationship.
- 8.4 An assessment of local housing need should be based on the collection of primary data. One method for undertaking this would be through the distribution of surveys to households within the defined area,

however, regardless of the exact method, meaningful engagement with the community is critical. Surveys should address the following:

- They should seek to identify needs (as opposed to views or preferences) for the amount and also different tenures and sizes of affordable housing arising from households within the area, taking account of household incomes and the ability to afford market housing or affordable, low cost home ownership tenures.
- Needs for specialist forms of affordable accommodation, such as sheltered or extra care units, and the needs of older people should also be assessed. This is particularly important in the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area where the policies expect that the needs of older people are provided for.
- The potential for affordable needs to be met by self or custombuild housing should also form part of the survey where a self or custom build affordable housing development is being considered.
- The assessment should also seek to identify the timescales over which such needs are likely to arise.
- Specialist independent and experienced consultants should be engaged to carry out housing needs assessments.
- 8.5 The Council's Housing Register (Gateway to Homechoice) is a choice-based lettings system whereby applicants bid to show their interest in a particular property. Data extracted from Gateway to Homechoice will show the number of applicants who have a local connection to a particular parish. However, this may not show the true number of applicants who wish



to live in the parish as applicants may seek to live elsewhere in the district or not feel it worth their while in applying.

8.6 The data should be up to date at the point at which a planning application is submitted. Up to date is considered to be data which has been gathered in the last 5 years. The older the data, the more likely that circumstances will have changed which could lead to issues further down the line for example in eligible occupants coming forward.

Applying the results

8.7 The need identified should be used to inform, rather than dictate, a proposed development. It isn't necessary to bring forward a development that equates precisely to the need identified – it may be that the precise needs change over time or are met in other ways. The data should provide a robust indication of the scale of need, but consideration will also need to be given to other factors such as landscape impact and availability of sites. In terms of mix, the data should provide an indication of the proportion of different tenures and sizes that are likely to help to meet the needs identified.





9. Viability Assessments

- 9.1 The Council's Local Plans have both been subject to Whole Plan Viability Studies as part of their production, and the policies in the Local Plans can therefore be considered to be viable to deliver. In accordance with paragraph 58 of the 2021 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), if an applicant considers that a proposed development is not viable whilst meeting the policy requirements for affordable housing it will be up to the applicant to demonstrate that this is the case to the satisfaction of the Council.
- 9.2 In accordance with the policies, the Council will only accept a reduction in affordable housing provision in exceptional circumstances and where demonstrated by a viability assessment. Under Policy WLP8.2, permission will only be granted for reduced affordable housing provision on sites which are necessary to the overall supply of housing in the district unless the scheme has wider sustainability benefits. This essentially means that sites which are not allocated for development or do not make up part of the five year supply of housing will not be supported unless they can provide a policy compliant amount of affordable housing, regardless of viability issues, unless there are overriding sustainability benefits that the Council consider would justify supporting.
- Plan Viability Study, Policy SCLP5.10 does not require any affordable housing provision on sites which are solely brownfield flatted development. Whilst solely flatted developments will be an appropriate

- approach on some brownfield sites, the Council will expect that consideration is given to planning an appropriate mix of housing, based on the context of the site and the Council's policies on housing mix and design, and that the starting point is not the avoidance of affordable housing provision.
- 9.4 Appendix G of the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan and Appendix 5 of the Waveney Local Plan set out the requirements for undertaking viability assessments. The Council's Local Validation List⁴⁰ also sets out what the Council expects to be submitted where applicants are submitting a viability assessment.
- 9.5 Where an applicant puts forward a case to vary the amount of affordable housing provision, the Council will expect that consideration is initially given to varying the tenure and/or reducing the number of affordable units, rather than the provision of zero affordable units, and that maximum affordable value possible is achieved.

www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/planning-applications-and-enforcement/how-to-submit-a-planning-application/





10. Vacant Buildings Credit

- 10.1 Paragraph 64 of the 2021 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that to support the re-use of brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any affordable housing contribution due should be reduced by a proportionate amount. Footnote 30 of the 2021 NPPF explains that this is equivalent to the gross floorspace of the existing buildings and that it does not apply to vacant buildings that have been abandoned.
- 10.2 The vacant buildings credit policy is a material consideration which must be considered in the determination of planning applications. Vacant building credit will only be applied where the building has not been abandoned and has not been demolished prior to the date when an application has been validated.
- 10.3 The Planning Practice Guidance on Planning Obligations provides guidance on the Vacant Buildings Credit. The PPG does not however provide a definition of "vacant building" so the Council will apply the Community Infrastructure Levy definition, which is a building that has not been in continuous use for any 6 month period during the last 3 years. The whole building must have been vacant, not just a single planning unit or part of the building. The building must be vacant at the time the application is validated.
- 10.4 The purpose of the Vacant Building Credit is to incentivise the development of brownfield land. It will therefore not apply in situations where there is a valid live consent on the site, where consent has recently lapsed, or where a site has had an application considered since the introduction of the guidance in the Planning Practice Guidance and the vacant buildings credit was not sought.

- 10.5 The PPG on Planning Obligations explains that the courts have held that, in deciding whether a use has been abandoned, account should be taken of all relevant circumstances, such as:
 - the condition of the property
 - the period of non-use
 - whether there is an intervening use; and
 - any evidence regarding the owner's intention
- 10.6 The national guidance does not specify how to calculate floorspace. For consistency Gross Internal Area (GIA) will be used for both vacant and proposed floorspace. An example calculation is included in Appendix 3.
- 10.7 The NPPF definition of exception sites are those of small scale where the principle of market housing wouldn't ordinarily be accepted and the policies in the local plans (SCLP5.11 and WLP8.6) provide for such sites to come forward to meet locally identified needs for affordable housing that otherwise would not be met. Therefore, the vacant buildings credit should not be applied in circumstances where this would result in no affordable housing being provided on an exception site. Where the cost of redeveloping a vacant site to be used as an exception site would make the delivery of solely affordable housing unviable, Policies SCLP5.11 and WLP8.6 provide for some market housing to form part of the mix to cross-subsidise the affordable housing provision.
- 10.8 Applicants who consider that their proposals are eligible for vacant buildings credit should set out their evidence in a Vacant Buildings Credit Statement as part of their planning application. The information that should be contained in the statement is set out at Appendix 3.



10.9 If development viability remains an issue following application of the vacant buildings credit (see Chapter 9) then a viability appraisal would need to be submitted if a further reduction in the provision of affordable housing is sought. It should reflect the impact of vacant buildings credit and would need to demonstrate why the net affordable housing requirement cannot be met.

Community Infrastructure Levy

- 10.10 Existing 'in-use buildings' act as a credit on the 'chargeable development'
 Community Infrastructure Levy charge. Each square metre of existing building on the site, reduces the CIL by one square metre. The CIL Regulations define the credit as applying to 'in-use buildings' and buildings meet this definition if they are:
 - I. present on the day that planning permission first permits the development; and
 - II. contain a part that has been in lawful use for a continuous period of at least six months within the period of three years ending before the planning permission first permits the chargeable development.
- 10.11 The day planning permission first permits the chargeable development is the day the last reserved matter is approved (unless the applicant and the local planning authority agree to defer until pre commencement conditions are discharged). Applicants should not seek to claim 'in use' buildings for CIL

credit, while at the same time proposing they are vacant for the benefit of vacant buildings credit.

11. Community Infrastructure Levy





11. Community Infrastructure Levy

- 11.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a charge on certain specified developments to help to deliver the infrastructure needed to support development. The former Suffolk Coastal District Council and the former Waveney District Council both adopted Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedules and the Council therefore collects Community Infrastructure Levy for certain developments. The Council is currently reviewing the CIL Charging Schedule with a view to adopting a new charging schedule for East Suffolk.
- 11.2 Whilst the Council's CIL Charging Schedules include residential developments, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations allows for 100% relief for the development of social housing. Whilst this covers many types of affordable housing, the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations allow Councils to set a policy allowing relief for other affordable tenures. The former Suffolk Coastal District Council and former Waveney District Council both adopted Discretionary Social Housing Relief Policies and these, or any subsequent policies published by East Suffolk Council, should be referred to. The Discretionary Social Housing Relief Policies can be viewed on the Council's CIL webpages⁴¹ and guidance is set out in the Planning Practice Guidance on the Community Infrastructure Levy⁴²
- 11.3 In relation to the recently introduced First Homes, the Planning Practice Guidance explains that mandatory social housing relief will be available for

- First Homes as this can apply in respect of dwellings where the first and subsequent sales are for no more than 70% of their market value.
- 11.4 To obtain the relief, an application must be made to the Council prior to commencement of the development. Further advice is available on the Council's CIL webpages⁴³.
- 11.5 Should an affordable dwelling cease to be an affordable dwelling, the social housing relief granted may need to be paid back, in accordance with the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations.

⁴¹ www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/developer-contributions/cil-and-s106-advice-service/

⁴² www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy

⁴³ www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/developer-contributions/community-infrastructure-levy/

12. Making a Planning Application



12. Making a Planning Application

- 12.1 Applications for planning permission that involve affordable housing should include sufficient relevant information for their determination. For a checklist of information that must be submitted with an application, applicants should consult the East Suffolk Council Local Validation List⁴⁴.
- 12.2 The Council provides a pre-application advice service, for a charge (other than in some cases see Chapter 6 Exception Sites) and would expect and encourage applicants for developments involving affordable housing to use this service. Further details are available on the Council's website at www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/planning-permission/pre-application-advice-service/.
- 12.3 For outline applications, the Council expects the submission of an Affordable Housing Statement to set out the percentage and/or number of affordable dwellings (depending on whether the precise number of dwellings is known) including tenure, size, mix and details of floorspace at plot by plot (where possible) and tenure by tenure level. At reserved matters stage it is expected that affordable dwellings, including tenure, would be clearly identifiable at plot level. Details of the Registered Provider, if known, should also be provided.
- 12.4 For applications for full permission the Council expects the Affordable Housing Statement to include full details of the proposed affordable

- housing, including tenure and size mix, clearly identifiable at plot level. Details of the Registered Provider, if known, should also be provided.
- 12.5 Design and Access Statements should be submitted for proposals involving housing development and should include an explanation of how the design of the development integrates the affordable housing. The Design and Access Statement could also be used to explain which affordable plots would meet the M4(2) accessible and adaptable dwellings standard.

44 www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/planning-applications-and-enforcement/how-to-submit-a-planning-application/



Appendix 1 Affordable Housing Needs by Tenure

Suffolk Coastal Local Plan area:

Source https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Local-Plan-Review/Evidence-base/SHMA-Part-2-update-2019.pdf (2014 based results)

Table 4.2f Current tenure and	tenure profile projecte	d in 2036 in Suffolk Coa	estal	
_	Current tenure (20	018)	Projected tenure (2036))
Tenure	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage
Owner-occupied	41,131	73.0%	47,293	72.9%
Private rented	8,562	15.2%	9,442	14.6%
Shared Ownership	132	0.2%	729	1.1%
Social Rent/Affordable Rent	6,542	11.6%	7,413	11.4%
Total	56,367	100.0%	64,877	100.0%

Table 4.3f Tenure of new accom	nmodation required in	Suffolk Coastal 2018 -	2036	
Tenure	Current tenure profile	Tenure profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
Owner-occupied	41,131	47,293	6,163	72.4%
Private rent	8,562	9,442	880	10.3%
Shared Ownership	132	729	597	7.0%
Social Rent/Affordable Rented				
	6,542	7,413	871	10.2%
Total	56,367	64,877	8,510	100.0%



Table 4.4f Size of new owne	er-occupied accommodatio	n required in Suffolk	Coastal 2018 – 2036	
Size of home	Current size profile	Size profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
One bedroom	1,107	1,670	563	9.1%
Two bedrooms	7,648	9,677	2,029	32.9%
Three bedrooms	17,096	18,700	1,604	26.0%
Four or more bedrooms	15,280	17,247	1,967	31.9%
Total	41,131	47,293	6,163	100.0%

Table 4.5f Size of new private r	ented accommodation	required in Suffolk C	Coastal 2018 - 2036	
Size of home	Current size profile	Size profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
One bedroom	1,430	1,576	146	16.6%
Two bedrooms	3,147	3,356	209	23.7%
Three bedrooms	2,922	3,195	273	31.0%
Four or more bedrooms	1,063	1,315	252	28.6%
Total	8,562	9,442	880	100.0%



Table 4.6f Size of new Share	d Ownership accommo	odation required in Su	ffolk Coastal 2018 - 203	6
Size of home	Current size profile (2018)	Size profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
One bedroom	24	184	160	26.7%
Two bedroom	45	219	174	29.1%
Three bedroom	47	208	161	27.1%
Four or more bedrooms	16	118	102	17.1%
Total	132	729	597	100.0%

Table 4.7f Size of new Social Ro	ent/Affordable Rent req	uired in Suffolk Coast	tal 2018 - 2036	
Size of home	Current size profile (2018)	Size profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
One bedroom	1,778	1,948	170	19.5%
Two bedroom	2,466	2,564	98	11.3%
Three bedroom	2,159	2,276	117	13.4%
Four or more bedrooms	139	625	486	55.8%
Total	6,542	7,413	871	100.0%



Table 4.8f Potential demand for discount home ownership/Starter Homes in Suffolk Coastal by size 2018 - 2036				
Dwelling size	Discount home ownership/Starter Homes	Residual private rented homes		
One bedroom	66	80		
Two bedroom	111	97		
Three bedroom	143	130		
Four or more bedrooms	70	182		
Total	390	489		

Waveney Local Plan area:

Source https://www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/assets/Planning/Suffolk-Coastal-Local-Plan/Local-Plan-Review/Evidence-base/Ipswich-and-Waveney-Housing-Market-Areas-Strategic-Housing-Market-Assessment-Part-2.pdf

Table 4.2b Current tenure and	d tenure profile projected	d in 2036 in the Waver	ney HMA	
_	Current tenure (2014)		Projected tenure (2036))
Tenure	Number	Percentage	Number	Percentage
Owner-occupied	35,554	69.2%	40,251	68.2%
Private rented	8,433	16.4%	9,598	16.3%
Shared Ownership	155	0.3%	633	1.1%
Social Rent/Affordable Rent	7,248	14.1%	8,563	14.5%
Total	51,390	100.0%	59,045	100.0%



Table 4.3b Tenure of new acco	mmodation required i	n the Waveney HMA 20	014 - 2036	
Tenure	Current tenure profile	Tenure profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
Owner-occupied	35,554	40,251	4,697	61.4%
Private rent	8,433	9,598	1,165	15.2%
Shared Ownership	155	633	478	6.2%
Social Rent/Affordable Rented				
	7,248	8,563	1,315	17.2%
Total	51,390	59,045	7,655	100.0%

Table 4.4b Size of new owner	-occupied accommoda	ation required in the Wa	veney HMA 2014 - 203	36
Size of home	Current size profile	Size profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
One bedroom	704	1,188	483	10.3%
Two bedrooms	8,522	9,823	1,301	27.7%
Three bedrooms	17,833	19,466	1,633	34.8%
Four or more bedrooms	8,494	9,774	1,280	27.2%
Total	35,554	40,251	4,697	100.0%



Table 4.5b Size of new privat	e rented accommodation	n required in the Wave	eney HMA 2014 - 2036	
Size of home	Current size profile	Size profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
One bedroom	1,611	1,735	124	10.6%
Two bedrooms	2,965	3,322	357	30.7%
Three bedrooms	3,282	3,741	458	39.4%
Four or more bedrooms	575	800	226	19.3%
Total	8,433	9,598	1,165	100.0%

Table 4.6b Size of new Shared O	wnership accommod	dation required in the	Waveney HMA 2014 - 20	36
Size of home	Current size profile (2014)	Size profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
One bedroom	30	133	103	21.6%
Two bedroom	48	204	156	32.6%
Three bedroom	51	213	162	34.0%
Four or more bedrooms	26	83	57	11.9%
Total	155	633	478	100.0%



Table 4.7b Size of new Soci	al Rent/Affordable Rent ı	required in the Wave	ney HMA 2014 - 2036	
Size of home	Current size profile (2014)	Size profile 2036	Change required	% of change required
One bedroom	2,339	2,617	279	21.2%
Two bedroom	2,195	2,465	270	20.5%
Three bedroom	2,536	2,919	383	29.1%
Four or more bedrooms	178	562	383	29.2%
Total	7,248	8,563	1,315	100.0%

Table 4.8b Potential demand for discount home ownership/Starter Homes in the Waveney HMA by size 2014 - 2036					
Size of home	Discount home ownership / Starter Homes	Residual private rented homes			
One bedroom	78	47			
Two bedroom	141	218			
Three bedroom	174	286			
Four or more bedrooms	60	166			
Total	454	716			



Appendix 2 Section 106 Model Heads of Terms and Template Clauses

Purpose

The purpose of this document is to set out the standard terms under which East Suffolk Council expects Section 106 Planning Obligations relating to the provision of Affordable Housing to be agreed. Deviation from the Model Heads of Terms and clauses will only be accepted where justified and in exceptional circumstances. The Model Heads of Terms have been prepared in consultation with stakeholders and interested parties and will be periodically reviewed and updated. The Model Heads of Terms should be read in conjunction with the guidance contained in the East Suffolk Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document.

Compliance with Planning Policy

The Council has two Local Plans, each with their own policy for the provision of Affordable Housing. The policy requirements are set out in the Suffolk Coastal Local Plan under Policy SCLP5.10 Affordable Housing on Residential Developments, and in the Waveney Local Plan under Policy WLP8.2 Affordable Housing. The Government introduced its policy on First Homes in 2021. The Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document explains how the Council will apply the Government's First Homes policy. The policy requirements, including the application of the First Homes policy, are summarised below:

	Threshold	Requirement	Tenure
Suffolk Coastal Local Plan (SCLP5.10)	dwellings or more and sites of 0.5ha or more	1 in 3 – applies to whole plan area	50% affordable rent / social rent 25% shared ownership 25% discounted home ownership (to be applied as 25% First Homes - see section on First Homes in Ch3 of SPD)
Waveney Local Plan (WLP8.2)	11 dwellings or more	20% in Lowestoft and Kessingland (excluding Corton); 40% in Southwold and Reydon; 30% elsewhere	50% affordable rent Expectation that the remainder is affordable ownership (25% to be secured as First Homes - see section on First Homes in Ch3 of SPD)

Neighbourhood Plans may also contain their own policies on affordable housing requirements and mix.

Planning Application Stage

Planning applications should be clear in terms of the number, housing types and tenure types of the Affordable Housing provision proposed on the development (percentages may be appropriate on Outline schemes). Applicants should seek to engage with the Council's Housing Enabling Team to ensure the proposed Affordable Housing reflects local housing requirements following analysis of the relevant housing needs information. Early engagement will reduce the need for lengthy discussions or potential design changes over the course of the application.



Preparation of a Section 106 Agreement

An agreement involving the requirement for on-site Affordable Housing should:

- 1. Define Affordable Housing.
- 2. Set out the mix of the Affordable Housing, by percentage on outline schemes (where final dwelling numbers are not known), and by number in detailed applications. Applicants should have engaged in discussions with the Council to determine Affordable Housing need at preapplication stage.
- 3. On outline schemes, set out an agreed mix of housing types, sizes and tenures by percentage, with the requirement for an Affordable Housing Scheme to be submitted with the reserved matters for approval. On phased schemes, details must be given of the proposed mix for the remaining phases to ensure well thought out provision across the development as a whole.
- 4. On detailed schemes, set out the plot number, housing type (including which of these are M4(2/3) compliant), size and tenure, subject to amendments agreed in writing with the Council.
- 5. Include the requirement for an Affordable Housing Scheme to be submitted with the following details (unless they are set out in detail in the Section 106 Agreement):

- o the timescale and programme for implementation of the Affordable Housing Scheme and construction of the Affordable Dwellings;
- the name and registration number of the Registered Provider if known;
- the number, location, tenure, plot numbers, housing type and size (including the number of occupants a dwelling can house) of Affordable Dwellings allocated to the Affordable Housing Scheme;
- o full details of the Affordable Housing mix if differing from that set out in the Affordable Housing Table (such proposal to reflect the Council's up to date strategic housing market assessment and specific local needs as determined and agreed by the Council);
- o such other information as the Council may reasonably require to enable approval of the Affordable Housing Scheme.
- 6. Where the affordable dwellings are to be transferred to a Registered Provider, require a contract has been entered, or evidence provided demonstrating that negotiations are in hand, with a Registered Provider of Affordable Housing (which may include Housing Associations, Local Housing Authorities and community led housing groups who are legally constituted as non-profit organisations) for the purchase of the affordable dwellings prior to occupation of 40% of the market dwellings on the development/phase.



- 7. Where the affordable dwellings are to be transferred to a Registered Provider, require the affordable housing freehold to be transferred to a Registered Provider prior to occupation of no more than 60% of the market housing on the development/phase. Where sufficient justification is provided it may be appropriate to stagger provision of the units; in these cases, at least 50% of the affordable housing units must be provided prior to 50% of market housing occupations and the remainder prior to 75%.
- 8. Define the types of affordable housing permitted on the development, as defined within Annex 2 to the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) (or any amending or subsequent national planning policy that may be published by the Government from time to time) and where appropriate should allow for any fundamental changes in amended legislation or guidance (such as the minimum/maximum percentage that may be purchased on shared ownership schemes).
- 9. Define those eligible to occupy the affordable dwellings.
- 10. Include the affordable housing provisions not to be binding upon protected persons (protected persons to be defined within the Agreement).
- 11. Unless otherwise agreed, include a local connections cascade ensuring local people are given priority in allocating the affordable dwellings. Mutual exchange is expected to be in accordance with the local connections cascade.

- 12. Include appropriate Mortgagee Protection Clauses in line with the National Housing Federation standard template and Model first Homes section 106 Agreement clauses published by DLUHC.
- 13. Include a requirement for the Owner to notify the Council within 28 days of the transfer or sale of the affordable dwellings of the plot number, street address, house type, size and tenure of each dwelling and date of transfer.
- 14. Include cascade provisions in the event a Registered Provider cannot be found despite reasonable endeavours, for the Owner to enter into negotiations with the Council to seek an agreed way forward that does not disadvantage or fetter the ability to continue construction or occupation of the development whilst maximising the provision of affordable housing.
- 15. Include provisions if after three calendar months of handover of the affordable dwellings to the Registered Provider there remains any affordable dwellings not leased or sold and the RP can provide evidence to the Council's satisfaction there are no prospective occupants, the RP shall be free to seek written agreement of the Council to convert those affordable dwellings to an alternative form of affordable housing as defined within Annex 2 to the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) (or any amending or subsequent national planning policy that may be published by the Government from time to time).
- 16. The Council will have nomination rights for any affordable rented dwellings and a nomination agreement must be entered into (unless the RP has entered into an agreement with the Council to grant nomination

www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/**Planning**



rights across East Suffolk) prior to their occupation setting out the terms of allocation.

- 17. For discounted sale products, require a mechanism to ensure the discount is retained in perpetuity or set out the terms under which remaining equity may be purchased. 100% staircasing will not be allowed on First Homes or discounted market sale homes.
- 18. For shared ownership and shared equity housing that allows 100% staircasing, require the proceeds from the final sale to be held by the Registered Provider and reinvested in providing additional affordable housing in the East Suffolk district.
- 19. For First Homes, discounted sale and shared equity housing, require the owner to agree a procedure for verifying eligible purchasers prior to commencement. For First Homes this will be in the form prescribed by DLUHC.
- 20. For First Homes, discounted sale and shared equity housing, a mechanism for approving the market value of the unit and subsequent sale price.
- 21. For Rural Exceptions Sites, the affordable housing must be retained in perpetuity and the local connections cascade should be amended to require a minimum period of 3 months advertising to the initial cascade.
- 22. In the event a financial contribution is agreed in lieu of on-site affordable housing, or a contribution equal to a fraction of an affordable housing

unit is payable to make up the full policy requirement, the expectation is the contribution will be paid to the Council prior to occupation of more than 40% of the dwellings on the development, for provision of additional affordable housing within the District of East Suffolk. The contribution will be index linked to increases in the BCIS Index or any index that replaces it. The Council will have 10 years from full payment in which to spend the contribution.

Template Definitions (to be included/omitted as appropriate):

"Additional First Homes Contribution"

means in circumstances where a sale of a First Home other than as a First Home has taken place in accordance with paragraphs 1.10, 3.8 or 3.9 of this Schedule, the lower of the following two amounts:

- (a) 30% of the proceeds of sale; and
- (b) the proceeds of sale less the amount due and outstanding to any Mortgagee of the relevant First Home under relevant security documentation which for this purpose shall include all accrued principal monies, interest and reasonable costs and expenses that are payable by the First Homes Owner to the Mortgagee under the terms



of any mortgage but for the avoidance of doubt shall not include other costs or expenses incurred by the First Homes Owner in connection with the sale of the First Home

and which for the avoidance of doubt shall in each case be paid following the deduction of any SDLT payable by the First Homes Owner as a result of the Disposal of the First Home other than as a First Home.

"Affordable Dwellings"

Means X Dwellings to be made available as Affordable Housing comprising of {number/tenures} Dwellings the exact number, location, tenure and mix of Affordable Dwellings as set out in the Affordable Housing Table;

"Affordable Dwellings for Rent"

Affordable Housing let by a Registered Provider to Eligible Persons where the rent level is capped at 80% of the local market rent (including any service charges, where applicable) and within local housing allowance rates, or as otherwise agreed with the Council in writing;

"Affordable Housing"

Housing that will be available to eligible households and as defined in Annex 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) or any amending or subsequent

"Affordable Housing Contribution"

(unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council);
Means the sum of £ (pounds) Index
Linked to be paid [in lieu of on site affordable housing / as a contribution of X of an Affordable
Dwelling in lieu of on site affordable housing] to be used towards the provision of Affordable Housing through the acquisition of land or the

construction or development of new

properties or the purchase or

refurbishment of existing market

national planning policy that may be

published by the Government whose

needs are not met by the market and

eligibility is determined with regard

to local incomes and local house prices

properties in East Suffolk;

"Affordable Housing Scheme"

A scheme to be submitted [for each Phase intended to include Affordable Housing] for the provision of the Affordable Dwellings generally in accordance with the Affordable Housing Table unless otherwise agreed with the Council such Affordable Housing Scheme shall include details of:

- the timescale and programme for implementation of the Affordable



Housing Scheme and construction of the Affordable Dwellings;

- the name and registration number of the Registered Provider, where known;
- a plan and schedule indicating the number, location, tenure, plot numbers, type and size (including number of occupants each dwelling can house) of Affordable Dwellings allocated to the Affordable Housing Scheme;
- full details of the Affordable Housing mix if differing from that set out in the Affordable Housing Table (such proposal to reflect the Council's up to date strategic housing market assessment and specific local needs as determined and agreed by the Council);
- such other information as the Council may reasonably require to enable approval of the Affordable Housing Scheme;

"Affordable Housing Table"

Means the table at clause/schedule X indicating the house types and tenure types of the Affordable Dwellings unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council;

"Allocation Policy"

Means the policy and procedure adopted by the Council to determine the eligibility and priority for allocation of the Affordable Dwellings for Rent; "Armed Services Member"

means a member of the Royal Navy the Royal Marines the British Army or the Royal Air Force or a former member who was a member within the five (5) years prior to the purchase of the First Home, a divorced or separated spouse or civil partner of a member or a spouse or civil partner of a deceased member or former member whose death was caused wholly or partly by their service;

"BCIS Index"

the All In Tender Price Index published by the Building Cost Information Service of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors or any successor organisation or (if that index shall cease to be published or is otherwise unavailable) such alternative basis of indexation as may be agreed between the Council and the Owners;

"Chargee"

Registered Provider or the successors in title to such mortgagee or chargee or any receiver or manager (including an administrative receiver) appointed pursuant to the Law of Property Act 1925;

any mortgagee or chargee of the

"Compliance Certificate"

means the certificate issued by the Council confirming that a Dwelling is being Disposed of as a First Home to a purchaser meeting the Eligibility Criteria

than:



"Discount Market Price"

(National) and unless paragraph 3.2 applies the Eligibility Criteria (Local); means a sum which is the Market Value of a First Home discounted by at least 30%;

"Discount Market Sale Dwellings" Means Affordable Dwellings sold at a

Means Affordable Dwellings sold at a discount of at least 20% below Market Value to Qualifying Persons and subject to a binding covenant securing the discount in perpetuity; means a transfer of the freehold or (in the case of a flat only) the grant or

"Disposal"

(a) a letting or sub-letting of a First Home in accordance with paragraph 3

assignment of a leasehold interest other

- (b) a transfer of the freehold interest in a First Home or land on which a First Home is to be provided before that First Home is made available for Occupation except where the transfer is to a First Homes Owner
- (c) an Exempt Disposal

and "Dispose" and "Disposed" and "Disposing" shall be construed accordingly;

"Dwelling"

"Eligibility Criteria (Local)"

means any dwelling (including a house bungalow flat or maisonette) to be constructed pursuant to the Planning Permission⁴⁵;

means local criteria met in respect of a purchase of a First Home if:

- (a) the purchaser meets the criteria in the Local Connections Cascade (or in the case of a joint purchase at least one of the joint purchasers meets the Local Connections Cascade); and
- (b) the purchaser meets any further local criteria in effect at the date of the relevant Disposal of a First Home

it being acknowledged that at the date of this Deed the Council has only prescribed Eligibility Criteria (Local) in respect of (a); means criteria which are met in respect of a purchase of a First Home if:

- "Eligibility Criteria (National)"
- (a) the purchaser is a First Time Buyer (or in the case of a joint purchase each joint purchaser is a First Time Buyer); and
- (b) the purchaser's annual gross income (or in the case of a joint purchase, the joint purchasers' joint annual gross

 $^{^{}m 45}$ Planning Permission to be defined

"Eligible Person"

"Exempt Disposal"

income) does not exceed £80,000 or such other sum as may be published for this purpose from time to time by the Secretary of State and is in force at the time of the relevant Disposal of the First Home;

A person or persons on the housing register maintained by the Council or who is otherwise approved by the Council as being in need of separate or alternative accommodation and unable to buy housing generally available on the open market; means the Disposal of a First Home in one

(a) a Disposal to a spouse or civil partner upon the death of the First Homes Owner

of the following circumstances:

- (b) a Disposal to a named beneficiary under the terms of a will or under the rules of intestacy following the death of the First Homes Owner
- (c) Disposal to a former spouse or former civil partner of a First Homes Owner in accordance with the terms of a court order, divorce settlement or other legal agreement or order upon divorce,

"First Home"

"First Homes Owner"

annulment or dissolution of the marriage or civil partnership or the making of a nullity, separation or presumption of death order

(d) Disposal to a trustee in bankruptcy prior to sale of the relevant Dwelling (and for the avoidance of doubt paragraph 1.10 shall apply to such sale)

Provided that in each case other than (d) the person to whom the Disposal is made complies with the terms of paragraph 3; means a Dwelling which may be Disposed of as a freehold or (in the case of flats only) as a leasehold property to a First Time Buyer at the Discount Market Price and which on its first Disposal does not exceed the Price Cap;

means the person or persons having the freehold or leasehold interest (as applicable) in a First Home other than:

- (a) [the Developer; or]⁴⁶
- (b) a[nother] developer or other entity to which the freehold interest or leasehold interest in a First Home or in the land on which a First Home is to be provided has been transferred before

⁴⁶ If 'Developer' is defined in the Deed

Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document | May 2022 | Appendices

_ `				

that First Home is made available and is Disposed of for Occupation as a First Home; or

the freehold a tenant or sub-tenant of a permitted letting under paragraph 3; means a first time buyer as defined by paragraph 6 of Schedule 6ZA to the Finance Act 2003:

The non-departmental public body responsible for creating thriving communities and affordable homes in England and which is the Regulator of Social Housing within the meaning of section 81 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 or such other body that may replace it in either function:

the increase in any sum referred to in Schedule X by an amount equivalent to the increase in the BCIS Index from the date of this Deed until the date on which such sum is payable using the application of the formula $A = B \times (C/D)$ where:

A is the sum payable under this Deed;

B is the original sum calculated as the sum payable;

C is the BCIS Index for the month two (2) months before the date on which the sum is payable;

D is the BCIS Index for the month two (2) months before the date of this Deed; and

C/D is equal to or greater than 1;

The local connections criteria to be applied to each and every let or sale of an Affordable Dwelling as set out in Appendix X;

"Market Dwellings" that part of the Development which is general market housing for sale on the open market and which is not Affordable

"Market Value" means

Local Connections Cascade

means the open market value as assessed by a Valuer of a Dwelling and assessed in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards (January 2014 or any such replacement guidance issued by RICS) and for the avoidance of doubt shall not take into account any discount in the valuation;

tgagee" means any financial institution or other
entity regulated by the Prudential
Regulation Authority and the Financial
Conduct Authority to provide facilities to

an Affordable Dwelling including all such regulated entities which provide Shari'ah

a person to enable that person to acquire

"Mortgagee"

"Index Linked"

"First Time Buyer"

"Homes England"



"Non	nination	Agreement"	
INOH	imation	Agreement	

compliant finance for the purpose of acquiring an Affordable Dwelling;

the agreement to be entered into by the Council and the Registered Provider in respect of rights for the Council to nominate Eligible Persons for the Affordable Dwellings for Rent in the form provided by the Council a draft of which is appended to this Deed at Schedule X;

"Occupation" and "Occupied"

occupation for the purposes permitted by the Planning Permission but not including occupation by personnel engaged in construction, fitting out or decoration or occupation for marketing or display or occupation in relation to security operations;

"Practical Completion"

means the stage reached when the construction of a Dwelling is sufficiently complete that, where necessary, a certificate of practical completion can be issued and it can be Occupied;

"Price Cap"

means the amount for which the First Home is sold after the application of the Discount Market Price which on its first Disposal shall not exceed Two Hundred and Fifty Thousand Pounds (£250,000) or such other amount as may be set locally or published from time to time by the Secretary of State;

"Protected Person"

Means any person who:

- a) has exercised the right to acquire pursuant to the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 or any statutory provision for the time being in force (or any equivalent contractual right) in respect of a particular Affordable Dwelling;
- b) has exercised any statutory right to buy or preserved right to buy (or any equivalent contractual right) in respect of a particular Affordable Dwelling;
- c) a 100% Staircaser;
- d) any successor in title to a Chargee or Mortgagee of the persons named in a) – c) above;
- e) any Mortgagee of a Shared Ownership Dwelling lawfully exercising the mortgagee protection provisions within that Shared Ownership Lease;

"Qualifying Persons"

Means a person or persons unable to buy housing generally available on the open market and whose household income is below £80,000 (or such other amount agreed in writing with the Council in accordance with government policy);

"Reasonable Consideration"

Offer prices from Registered Providers which give the Owners a reasonable consideration having regard to current market conditions in the Disposal of



"Registered Provider" or "RP"

Affordable Housing of a similar type and location by Registered Providers on a grant free basis via Section 106 Agreements;

For the purposes of this Deed means either: -

- a body registered as a social landlord pursuant to the provisions of the Housing Act 1996 or a housing association within the meaning of the Housing Associations Act 1985 or;
- any person or body or entity which is registered as a provider or social housing in accordance with Section 80(2) and Chapter 3 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 or;
- any body, organisation or company which is registered charity with the Charity Commissioners for England and Wales and approved by Homes England or any other body organisation or company approved by the Council and which has objects demonstrably similar to or compatible with or promoting those of a registered social landlord;

to be approved in writing by the Council; Means the procedure to be approved in writing by the Council to verify the Market Value and eligibility of purchasers in relation to the Shared Equity "SDLT"

"Secretary of State"

"Shared Equity Dwellings"

Dwellings and Discount Market Sale Dwellings;

means Stamp Duty Land Tax as defined by the Finance Act 2003 or any tax replacing it of like effect;

means the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities from time to time appointed and includes any successor in function;

Means Affordable Dwellings to be purchased at no more than 75% Market Value on a freehold basis with a second charge ("the Second Charge") for the remaining 25% in favour of the RP. The Second Charge shall have no interest payable in relation to it and shall not involve any consideration being due on initial sale. The Second Charge shall not be redeemed or removed by the purchaser otherwise than on or after the second anniversary of the first Occupation of the Shared Equity Dwelling and only for consideration the equivalent of 25% of the Market Value at that time, or, if at any point during the Term the Shared Equity Dwelling is sold, then the proceeds of sale shall be divided on the basis of 75% of the proceeds to the vendor and 25% to the RP or Council and the Second Charge shall thereafter be

"Sales Procedure"



"Shared Ownership Dwellings"

"Shared Ownership Lease"

redeemed and removed from the title on completion of the sale;

Means those Dwellings purchased on a Shared Ownership Lease;

Means a lease in a form approved by Homes England or where there is no such form in a form approved by the Council, such lease to provide for the following:

- i. not more than 75% and not less than 10% of the equity (or such other percentages the Council may agree) shall be initially sold to the purchaser by the Registered Provider;
- ii. power to the purchaser to increase their ownership up to 100%;
- ii. an initial rent not exceeding 2.75% of the value of the equity retained by the Registered Provider subject to annual increases not exceeding Retail Price Index (All Items) published by the Office for National Statistics (or if such index ceases to be published such other index the Council shall reasonably determine) plus 0.5% or such other rent as complies with the requirements from time to time of Homes England;

"Site" the land described in Schedule X against

which this Deed may be enforced as shown edged red for identification

purposes only on the Plan⁴⁷;

"Valuer" means a Member or Fellow of the Royal

Institution of Chartered Surveyors being a Registered Valuer acting in an

independent capacity;

"100% Staircaser" Means a lessee of a Shared Ownership

Dwelling or a under a Shared Ownership Lease who has exercised their right under that lease to purchase 100% of the equity in the Shared Ownership Dwelling or the owner of a Shared Equity Dwelling who has exercised their right to purchase the

remaining equity;

Template Covenants (to be included/omitted as appropriate):

1. Affordable Housing Provisions relating to all Affordable Housing

- 1.1 The Owner covenants not to Commence Development until the Affordable Housing Scheme has been agreed in writing with the Council.
- 1.2 The Owner covenants that no more than 40% of the Dwellings shall be Occupied until the Affordable Housing Contribution has been paid to the Council.

⁴⁷ 'Plan' to be defined



- 1.3 The Owner covenants that no more than 40% of the Market Dwellings shall be Occupied (save unless otherwise agreed with the Council) until the Council has been notified of the name and registration number of the proposed Registered Provider for the Affordable Dwellings [(save for any Affordable Dwellings to be sold directly by the Owner)].
- 1.4 The Owner covenants that no more than 40% of the Market Dwellings shall be Occupied (save unless otherwise agreed with the Council) until a contract has been entered into with a Registered Provider for transfer of all the Affordable Dwellings [(save for any Affordable Dwellings to be sold directly by the Owner) unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Council.
- 1.5 The Owner covenants that no more than 60% of the Market Dwellings shall be Occupied until the Affordable Dwellings have been constructed in accordance with the Planning Permission made ready for residential Occupation and either transferred to a Registered Provider or marketed for sale to Qualifying Persons or First Time Buyers in accordance with the terms of this Deed.
- 1.6 The Owner covenants that from the date of Practical Completion the Affordable Dwellings shall not be used other than for the purposes of Affordable Housing for Eligible Persons or Qualifying Persons or First Time Buyers in accordance with the Affordable Housing Scheme subject however to the provisions herein.
- 1.7 In the event that a Registered Provider cannot be found for any of the Affordable Dwellings [(save for any Affordable Dwellings to be sold directly by the Owner subject to the Sales Procedure)] throughout England despite the Owner's reasonable endeavours to do so the Owner will be required to prove to the Council's satisfaction (the

Council at all times acting reasonably) that demand from Registered Providers has not been forthcoming for Reasonable Consideration.

- 1.7.1 If the Council is satisfied that demand from Registered Providers has not been forthcoming for Reasonable Consideration the Council will enter into written negotiations with the Owner to seek an agreed way forward that does not disadvantage the Owner whilst maximising the provision of Affordable Housing.
- 1.8 If after three calendar months of handover of the Affordable Dwellings to the RP there remains any Affordable Dwellings not leased or sold and the RP can provide evidence to the Council's satisfaction there are no prospective occupants the RP shall be free to seek written agreement of the Council to convert those Affordable Dwellings to an alternative form of Affordable Housing defined within Annex 2 to the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) (or any amended or subsequent national planning policy that may be published by the Government from time to time).
- 1.9 Nothing in this Schedule shall be binding on a Protected Person or any Mortgagee or Chargee of a Protected Person or any receiver appointed by such Mortgagee or Chargee or any person deriving title from any such person.

Mortgagee Protection Clauses

80

1.10 The Affordable Housing obligations in this Schedule X shall not apply to any Mortgagee or Chargee (or any receiver (including an administrative receiver appointed by such Mortgagee or Chargee) or any other person appointed under any security documentation to

www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/Planning



enable such Mortgagee or Chargee to realise its security or any administrator (howsoever appointed) including a housing administrator (each a Receiver)) of the whole or any part of the Affordable Dwellings or any individual First Home or any persons or bodies deriving title through such Chargee, Mortgagee or Receiver PROVIDED THAT:

- 1.10.1 such Chargee or Receiver of an Affordable Dwelling for Rent or Shared Ownership Dwelling or Shared Equity Dwelling shall first give written notice to the Council of its intention to Dispose of the Affordable Dwellings and shall have used reasonable endeavours over a period of three months from the date of the written notice to complete a Disposal of the Affordable Dwelling[s] to another Registered Provider or to the Council for a consideration not less than the amount due and outstanding under the terms of the relevant security documentation including all accrued principal monies, interest and costs and expenses; and
- 1.10.2 if such Disposal of the Affordable Dwelling[s] for Rent or Shared Ownership Dwelling[s] or Shared Equity Dwelling[s] has not completed within the three month period, the Chargee or Receiver shall be entitled to Dispose of the Affordable Dwelling[s] for Rent or Shared Ownership Dwelling[s] or Shared Equity Dwelling[s] free from the Affordable Housing provisions in this Deed which provisions shall determine absolutely
- 1.10.3 such Mortgagee or Receiver of a First Home or
 Discount Market Sale Dwelling shall first give written
 notice to the Council of its intention to Dispose of the
 relevant Dwelling; and

- 1.10.4 once notice of intention to Dispose of the relevant
 First Home or Discount Market Sale Dwelling has been
 given by the Mortgagee or Receiver to the Council the
 Mortgagee or Receiver shall be free to sell that First
 Home subject only to paragraph 1.10.5 and that
 Discount Market Sale dwelling subject only to
 paragraph 1.10.6 at its full Market Value
- 1.10.5 following the Disposal of the relevant First Home the Mortgagee or Receiver shall following the deduction of the amount due and outstanding under the relevant security documentation including all accrued principal monies, interest and reasonable costs and expenses pay to the Council the Additional First Homes Contribution
- 1.10.6 following the Disposal of the relevant Discount Market Sale Dwelling the Mortgagee or Receiver shall pay to the Council an amount equal to 20% of the Disposal price or such lower amount where following the deduction of the amount due and outstanding under the relevant security documentation including all accrued principal monies, interest and reasonable costs and expenses less than 20% of the Disposal price remains
- 1.10.7 following receipt of notification of the Disposal of the relevant First Home or Discount Market Sale Dwelling the Council shall:
 - forthwith issue a completed application to the purchaser of that Dwelling to enable the removal of the restriction on the title set out in paragraph 3.5;
 and



ii. apply all such monies received towards the provision of Affordable Housing in East Suffolk

Affordable Housing Table (Example)

House Type	<u>Tenure</u>	Number / percentage	<u>Plot Number</u>
1 bed 2 person flat	Affordable Rent	2	1-2
1 bed 2 person flat (M4(2/3) compliant	Affordable Rent	1	3
2 bed 4 person house	Affordable Rent	3	4-6
2 bed 4 person bungalow M4(2/3) compliant	Shared Ownership	3	12-14
3 bed 5 person house M4(2/3) compliant	First Homes	3	15-17

2. Rent and Shared Ownership Dwelling Provisions

2.1The Registered Provider shall enter into a Nomination Agreement with the Council and shall not let Dispose or otherwise permit the Occupation of any of the Affordable Dwellings for Rent until such Nomination Agreement has been entered into.

- 2.2On the first and any subsequent letting of an Affordable Dwelling for Rent the Council will (unless otherwise agreed in writing) nominate eligible applicants in accordance with the Allocation Policy and Nomination Agreement (Priority will go to applicants who have a Local Connection in accordance with the Local Connections Cascade at Appendix X).
- 2.3The Registered Provider shall not Dispose of any interest in any of the Affordable Dwellings for Rent other than by way of an assured tenancy or an assured shorthold tenancy under the Housing Act 1988 (or any form of residential tenancy prescribed by statute in substitution for or in addition to those) PROVIDED THAT nothing in this paragraph shall be deemed to prohibit the sale of the Affordable Dwellings individually or together (in any numerical combination) as one transaction (whether or not subject to any tenancy) to a RP nor prevent any Registered Provider from charging the Affordable Dwellings in whole or part.
- 2.4The Owner will notify the Council within 28 days of the transfer of any Affordable Dwellings to a Registered Provider of the plot number, street address, house type, size and tenure of each dwelling and date of transfer.

2.5 In the event 100% of a Shared Ownership Dwelling is purchased:

i. the net proceeds from the final sale of the Shared Ownership Dwelling are to be ringfenced by the RP for 5 years for the provision of Affordable Housing within the East Suffolk District, and should the owner of the Shared Ownership Dwelling wish to sell it he must notify the RP and allow the RP to purchase the Shared Ownership Dwelling back in the first instance at Market Value;

- in the event the RP purchases the Shared Ownership Dwelling in accordance with this clause at 2.5i, the Shared Ownership Dwelling will be marketed as such subject to the terms of this Deed; and
- iii. in the event the RP declines to purchase the Shared Ownership Dwelling or fails to notify the owner of the Shared Ownership Dwelling of its intention to make an offer to purchase the dwelling within twenty-eight days of the notification as specified in this clause at 2.5i, then the owner of the Shared Ownership Dwelling may sell it on the open market free from the terms of this Deed.

3. First Homes

- 3.1 The First Homes shall be marketed for sale and shall only be sold (whether on a first or any subsequent sale) as First Homes to a person or person(s) meeting:
 - a. the Eligibility Criteria (National); and
 - b. the Eligibility Criteria (Local).
- 3.2 If after a First Home has been actively marketed for 3 months (such period to expire no earlier than three (3) months prior to Practical Completion) it has not been possible to find a willing purchaser who meets the Eligibility Criteria (Local), paragraph 3.1 b shall cease to apply.
- 3.3 Subject to paragraphs 3.6 to 3.10, no First Home shall be Disposed of (whether on a first or any subsequent sale) unless not less than 50% of the purchase price is funded by a first mortgage or other home purchase plan with a Mortgagee.
- 3.4 No First Home shall be Disposed of (whether on a first or any subsequent sale) unless and until the Council has been provided with evidence that:



- 3.4.1 the intended purchaser meets the Eligibility Criteria (National) and unless paragraph 3.2 applies meets the Eligibility Criteria (Local) (if any)
- 3.4.2 the Dwelling is being Disposed of as a First Home at the Discount Market Price and
- 3.4.3 the transfer of the First Home includes:
 - a) a definition of the "Council" which shall be East Suffolk Council
 - a definition of "First Homes Provisions" in the following terms:
 - "means the provisions set out in clause[s] [] of the [Supplemental] S106 Agreement a copy of which is attached hereto as the Annexure."
 - c) A definition of "[Supplemental] S106 Agreement" means the [supplemental] agreement made pursuant to Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 dated [] made between (1) the Council [and] (2) [and (3)]
 - d) a provision that the First Home is sold subject to and with the benefit of the First Homes Provisions and the Transferee acknowledges that it may not transfer or otherwise Dispose of the First Home or any part of it other than in accordance with the First Homes Provisions
 - e) a copy of the First Homes Provisions in an Annexure.
- 3.4.4 The Council has issued the Compliance Certificate and the Council hereby covenants that it shall issue the Compliance Certificate within twenty eight (28) days of being provided with evidence sufficient to satisfy it that



the requirements of paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4.1 have been met.

- 3.5 On the first Disposal of each and every First Home to apply to the Chief Land Registrar pursuant to Rule 91 of and Schedule 4 to the Land Registration Rules 2003 for the entry on the register of the title of that First Home of the following restriction:
 - "No disposition of the registered estate (other than a charge) by the proprietor of the registered estate or by the proprietor of any registered charge, not being a charge registered before the entry of this restriction, is to be registered without a certificate signed by East Suffolk Council of East Suffolk House, Riduna Park, Station Road, Melton, Woodbridge IP12 1RT or their conveyancer that the provisions of clause XX (the First Homes provision) of the Transfer dated [Date] referred to in the Charges Register have been complied with or that they do not apply to the disposition"
- 3.6 The owner of a First Home may apply to the Council to Dispose of it other than as a First Home on the grounds that either:
 - the Dwelling has been actively marketed as a First
 Home for six (6) months in accordance with Clauses
 3.1 and 3.2 (and in the case of a first Disposal the six
 (6) months shall be calculated from a date no earlier
 than six (6) months prior to Practical Completion) and
 all reasonable endeavours have been made to Dispose
 of the Dwelling as a First Home but it has not been
 possible to Dispose of that Dwelling as a First Home in
 accordance with paragraphs 3.3 and 3.4.1; or
 - 3.6.2 requiring the First Homes Owner to undertake active marketing for the period specified in paragraph 3.6.1 before being able to Dispose of the Dwelling other

than as a First Home would be likely to cause the First Homes Owner undue hardship

- 3.7 Upon receipt of an application served in accordance with paragraph 3.6 the Council shall have the right (but shall not be required) to direct that the relevant Dwelling is Disposed of to it at the Discount Market Price.
- 3.8 If the Council is satisfied that either of the grounds in paragraph 3.6 above have been made out it shall confirm in writing within twenty eight (28) days of receipt of the written request made in accordance with paragraph 3.6 that the relevant Dwelling may be Disposed of:
 - 3.8.1 to the Council at the Discount Market Price; or
 - 3.8.2 (if the Council confirms that it does not wish to acquire the relevant Dwelling) other than as a First Home

and on the issue of that written confirmation the obligations in this Deed which apply to First Homes shall cease to bind and shall no longer affect that Dwelling apart from paragraph 3.10 which shall cease to apply on receipt of payment by the Council where the relevant Dwelling is Disposed of other than as a First Home.

3.9 If the Council does not wish to acquire the relevant Dwelling itself and is not satisfied that either of the grounds in paragraph 3.6 above have been made out then it shall within twenty eight (28) days of receipt of the written request made in accordance with paragraph 3.6 serve notice on the owner setting out the further steps it requires the owner to take to secure the Disposal of a Dwelling as a First Home and the timescale (which shall be no longer than six (6) months). If at the end of that period the owner has been unable to Dispose of the Dwelling as a First Home he may serve notice on the Council in accordance with paragraph 3.6 following which the Council must within 28 days issue

- confirmation in writing that the Dwelling may be Disposed of other than as a First Home.
- 3.10 Where a Dwelling is Disposed of other than as a First Home or to the Council at the Discount Market Price in accordance with paragraphs 3.8 or 3.9 above the owner of the First Home shall pay to the Council forthwith upon receipt of the proceeds of sale the Additional First Homes Contribution.
- 3.11 Upon receipt of the Additional First Homes Contribution the Council shall:
 - 3.11.1 within 28 working days of such receipt, provide a completed application to enable the removal of the restriction on the title set out in paragraph 3.5 where such restriction has previously been registered against the relevant title
 - 3.11.2 apply all monies received towards the provision of Affordable Housing.
- 3.12 Any person who purchases a First Home free of the restrictions in schedule [] [] of this Deed pursuant to the provisions in paragraphs 3.9 and 3.10 shall not be liable to pay the Additional First Homes Contribution to the Council.
- 3.13 Each First Home shall be used only as the main residence of the First Homes Owner and shall not be let, sub-let or otherwise Disposed of other than in accordance with the terms of this Deed PROVIDED THAT letting or sub-letting shall be permitted in accordance with paragraphs 3.14-3.17 below.
- 3.14 A First Homes Owner may let or sub-let their First Home for a fixed term of no more than two (2) years, provided that the First Homes Owner notifies the Council in writing before the First Home is Occupied by the prospective tenant or sub-tenant. A First Homes Owner may let

- or sub-let their First Home pursuant to this paragraph more than once during that First Homes Owner's period of ownership, but the aggregate of such lettings or sub-lettings during a First Homes Owner's period of ownership may not exceed two (2) years.
- 3.15 A First Homes Owner may let or sub-let their First Home for any period provided that the First Homes Owner notifies the Council and the Council consents in writing to the proposed letting or sub-letting. The Council covenants not to unreasonably withhold or delay giving such consent and not to withhold such consent in any of circumstances (a) (f) below:
 - a. the First Homes Owner is required to live in accommodation other than their First Home for the duration of the letting or sub-letting for the purposes of employment;
 - b. the First Homes Owner is an active Armed Services Member and is to be deployed elsewhere for the duration of the letting or sub-letting;
 - c. the First Homes Owner reasonably requires to live elsewhere for the duration of the letting or sub-letting in order to escape a risk of harm;
 - d. the First Homes Owner reasonably requires to live elsewhere for the duration of the letting or sub-letting as a result of relationship breakdown;
 - e. the First Homes Owner reasonably requires to live elsewhere for the duration of the letting or sub-letting as a result of redundancy; and
 - f. the First Homes Owner reasonably requires to live elsewhere for the duration of the letting or sub-letting in order to provide care or assistance to any person.



- 3.16 A letting or sub-letting permitted pursuant to paragraph 3.14 or 3.15 must be by way of a written lease or sub-lease (as the case may be) of the whole of the First Home on terms which expressly prohibit any further sub-letting.
- 3.17 Nothing in this paragraph 3 prevents a First Homes Owner from renting a room within their First Home or from renting their First Home as temporary sleeping accommodation (except where other local policy restrictions apply) provided that the First Home remains at all times the First Home Owner's main residence.

4. Shared Equity and Discount Market Sale Housing

- 4.1 The maximum price payable to the Owners in respect of the Disposal of a Discount Market Sale Dwelling shall not exceed 80% of the Market Value (for sale or leasehold purposes) as certified by a Valuer.
- 4.2 The maximum price payable to the Owners in respect of the Disposal of a Shared Equity Dwelling shall not exceed 75% of the Market Value (for sale or leasehold purposes) as certified by a Valuer.
- 4.3 The Shared Equity Dwellings / Discount Market Sale Dwellings shall only be Disposed of (which term shall include a freehold sale or sale of a registrable lease) to a Qualifying Person in accordance with the Local Connections Cascade and on the terms specified herein PROVIDING THAT in the event they are transferred to a RP clauses 4.4 to 4.6 of this Paragraph 4 shall not apply:
- 4.4The Owner covenants to agree the Sales Procedure with the Council no less than 8 weeks prior to marketing the Shared Equity Dwelling / Discount Market Sale Dwelling for its first sale.

- 4.5 Any dispute over the Market Value is to be determined by an independent expert⁴⁸ who is a chartered surveyor of not less than 10 years standing who is experienced in the field of valuing and selling residential property such as the Shared Equity Dwellings / Discount Market Sale Dwellings.
- 4.6 No purchaser of a Shared Equity Dwelling or Discount Market Sale Dwelling shall sub-let or otherwise rent out such Shared Equity Dwelling or Discount Market Sale Dwelling (unless approved in writing by the Council).
- 4.7Where the freehold or a registrable leasehold interest in a Discount Market Sale Dwelling is transferred such transfer and all such subsequent transfers shall contain a covenant binding the transferee and all subsequent transferees that no transfer shall take place save for a Disposal of the freehold or registrable leasehold interest in the Discount Market Sale Dwelling at a price or premium which does not exceed 80% of the Market Value of the said unit at the date of Disposal as certified by a Valuer and will on each transfer of the said units apply for the following restriction (or a restriction in similar terms) to be entered in the Register of the title in the property:

"No transfer, assent or other dealing by the Proprietor of the property is to be registered without the transferee's solicitor producing to the Land Registry a Certificate confirming that the purchase price for the properly does not exceed 80% of the open market value as determined in accordance with a Section 106 Agreement dated () and made under Section 106 Agreement given under the Town and County Planning Act 1990 between East Suffolk Council(1) and (2) and (3).

4.8 Nothing in the transfer shall operate to restrict delay limit or prevent the immediate Occupation or Disposal of any or Discount Market Sale Dwelling to or by a person and those living with him where such

_

⁴⁸ Capitalise if defined term



Occupation or Disposal arises as a result of a court order or any other statutory provision or presumption or will or intestacy but subject always to the strict compliance by any transferee of the legal estate with the provisions of this paragraph before any further Disposal for value of the legal estate takes place.

- 4.9 In the event the Owner is unable to find a suitable buyer for a Discount Market Sale Dwelling despite marketing the Dwelling for at least 6 months in total and all reasonable steps have been taken to sell the Dwelling (including, where appropriate, reducing the asking price) the Council may agree in writing to allow the sale of the dwelling on the open market and to remove the title restriction set out in paragraph 4.7 PROVIDING THAT
 - 4.9.1 The Council has agreed in writing it is satisfied the Owner is unable to find a suitable buyer
 - 4.9.2 A sum is paid to the Council equal to 20% of the purchase price of the Discount Market Sale Dwelling (or, as much as possible of that once the value of all lending against the Dwelling has been cleared) net of any additional Stamp Duty liability incurred towards the provision of Affordable Housing within the East Suffolk District.
- 4.10 In the event 100% of the Shared Equity Dwelling is purchased:
 - a. the net proceeds from the sale of the Second Charge of the Shared Equity Dwelling are to be ring-fenced by the Registered Provider for 5 years for the provision of Affordable Housing within the East Suffolk District; and
 - b. the owner of the Shared Equity Dwelling may sell it on the open market free from the terms of this Deed.

1. Affordable Dwellings for Rent

- 1.1 The Affordable Dwellings for Rent are to be allocated to a person nominated by the Council in line with its Allocation Policy who is considered by them or it to be in need of such accommodation and unable to compete in the normal open market for property. Before nominating an applicant the Council will be satisfied that the applicant:
 - a. Has continuously lived in [Parish] for the preceding 5 years, OR
 - b. Has continuously had a principal place of work in [Parish] for the preceding 5 years OR
 - c. Has parents or close family (i.e. mother, father, son or daughter) who are over 18 and who have lived in [Parish] for the preceding 5 years, OR
 - d. Due to a lack of suitable accommodation was forced within the preceding 5 years to move away from [Parish].
- 1.2 If there are no persons who qualify under paragraph 1.1 above the Affordable Dwelling shall be allocated to person nominated by the Council who:
 - a. Has continuously lived within X^{49} miles of the Site for the preceding 5 years, OR
 - b. Has continuously had a principal place of work within X miles of the Site for the preceding 5 years OR
 - c. Has parents or close family (i.e. mother, father, son or daughter) who are over 18 and who have lived within X miles of the Site for the preceding 5 years, OR
 - d. Due to a lack of suitable accommodation was forced within the preceding 5 years to move away from within X miles of the Site.
- 1.3 If there are no persons who qualify under paragraphs 1.1 and 1.2 above the Affordable Dwelling shall be re-advertised to the East Suffolk District

Local Connections Cascade (to be appended)

⁴⁹ To be determined on a case by case basis as appropriate



and where after re-advertising there are no persons who qualify under the paragraphs above the Affordable Dwelling shall be allocated to a person nominated by the Council who is considered by it to be in need of such accommodation and who is unable to compete in the normal open market for property in East Suffolk

1.4. Where there is a mutual exchange the Registered Provider may let the Affordable Dwelling to any incoming tenant who satisfies the local connection criteria at paragraphs 1.1 to 1.3 above

2. Affordable Dwellings for sale

- 2.1⁵⁰ On advertising the first Disposal of a Shared Ownership, First Home, Discount Market Sale or Shared Equity Dwelling the Dwelling shall be marketed for sale for the first 3 months to persons who:
 - a. Have continuously lived within [Parish] for the preceding 5 years, OR
 - b. Have continuously had a principal place of work within [Parish] for the preceding 5 years OR
 - c. Have parents or close family (i.e. mother, father, son or daughter) who are over 18 and who have lived within [Parish] for the preceding 5 years, OR
 - d. Due to a lack of suitable accommodation were forced within the preceding 5 years to move away from [Parish].

PROVIDING THAT if after 2 months of marketing no offer has been received from persons who comply with 2.1 a-d the dwelling may be sold to persons who comply with 2.2 a-d.

2.2 On advertising [subsequent⁵¹] Disposals of a Shared Ownership, First Home, Discount Market Sale or Shared Equity Dwelling the Dwelling shall be marketed for sale for the first 3 months to persons who:

- a. Have continuously lived within the East Suffolk District for the preceding 5 years, OR
- b. Have continuously had a principal place of work within the East Suffolk District for the preceding 5 years OR
- c. Have parents or close family (i.e. mother, father, son or daughter) who are over 18 and who have lived within the East Suffolk District for the preceding 5 years, OR
- d. Due to a lack of suitable accommodation were forced within the preceding 5 years to move away from the East Suffolk District.
- 2.3 If there are no purchasers who qualify under paragraphs 2.1 [and 2.2] above within 3 months of marketing the Affordable Dwelling it may be sold free of Local Connections restrictions.

⁵⁰ To be used where a Local Connection to the Parish (or group of Parishes) is required on initial sale of the dwelling, as considered appropriate depending on the circumstances of the development. This part of the cascade can be removed where only a connection to East Suffolk is required for all disposals.

 $^{^{51}}$ 'subsequent' may be removed where a local connection to East Suffolk is required on ALL disposals, with no additional restrictions for the initial sale



Appendix 3 Vacant Buildings Credit

The following considerations will apply in determining whether Vacant Buildings Credit will be granted:

Is the site brownfield? The definition in the NPPF Glossary for previously developed land is "Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure, including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill, where provision for restoration has been made through development management procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and allotments; and land that was previously developed but where the remains of the permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape. "

Is the building vacant? Applicants will need to show that the building is currently vacant and has not been in continuous use for any 6 month period within the preceding 3 years from the day the planning application is validated. Evidence such as Council Tax or Rates records will be required to determine whether or not a building is vacant.

Is the whole building vacant? If part of the building is occupied or has been occupied within the last 3 years then it will not qualify.

Has the building been made vacant for the sole purpose of redevelopment? Vacant buildings credit will not be applied to buildings that

have, so applicants will be expected to demonstrate that the vacancy has arisen for other reasons.

Has the building been abandoned? The onus will be on the applicant to demonstrate that a building is not an "abandoned building". The applicant should have regard to the guidance contained in the Planning Practice Guidance which sets out the four relevant factors to consider:

- the condition of the property
- the period of non-use
- whether there is an intervening use; and
- any evidence regarding the owner's intention

Is the proposal covered by an extant or recently expired planning permission for the same or substantially the same development, or has there been an application submitted but not determined since the vacant buildings credit was reintroduced and vacant buildings credit not sought? Vacant buildings credit will not be applied in these circumstances.

Calculating the Credit

Once the Council concludes that vacant buildings credit should be applied, the following process will apply:

- 1. Confirm to the applicant that the vacant buildings credit will be applied
- 2. Calculate the Gross Internal Area (GIA) floorspace of the existing building/s as a proportion of the proposed GIA floor space of the



proposed redevelopment to give the Credit Proportion (Note: for wholly residential schemes this will be the total GIA of all proposed dwellings, for mixed use schemes the GIA of the proposed future residential elements only will be used). All calculations will be rounded to the nearest square metre

3. Apply this Credit Proportion as a reduction to the Affordable obligation

Where a vacant buildings credit calculation results in a part dwelling requirement this will be rounded up to the next whole affordable dwelling, e.g. a requirement for 1.25 affordable dwellings after vacant buildings credit has been applied will be rounded to 2 whole affordable dwellings.

Worked example of the application of the credit:

- A proposal to provide a 25 unit (1875sqm @ 75sqm each) 2 bed housing scheme on a Brownfield site on which currently sits a vacant building of 300sqm.
- Where the scheme should normally provide 7.5 rounding to 8 AH (@30%)
- The process is simply to apply the Credit Proportion, or as an example:
- Credit Proportion is (300sqm / 1875) = 0.16 proportion or 16%.
 Therefore 16% shall be deducted from the on-site affordable housing requirement as follows: 16% of 8 AH = 1.28. 8 minus

1.28 = 6.72 rounds back up to 7 Therefore the total number of affordable units required is 7.

For off-site contributions which have been exceptionally justified, the Council's off site affordable commuted sum (see Chapter 5) shall be applied to the net number of affordable dwellings which would be required after the credit has been applied.

The affordable housing obligations will be calculated as a representative mix of the overall residential development for the purposes of calculating any subsequent commuted sum.

www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/**Planning**



Appendix 4 List of Photographs

All photographs are sourced by East Suffolk Council, unless otherwise stated. The locations of photographs used in the document are listed below

- Front cover clockwise from top left:
 Felixstowe; Framlingham; Halesworth; Southwold; Brampton
- Chapter 2 title page Halesworth
- Chapter 3 title page Felixstowe
- Chapter 4 title page Southwold
- Chapter 5 title page Lowestoft
- Chapter 6 title page Brampton
- Chapter 7 title page Southwold
- Page 37 Goldsmith Street, Norwich
- Page 40 Former Deben High School site proposed development,
 Felixstowe (Source Tate Hindle Architects for East Suffolk
 Council) www.tatehindle.co.uk
- Page 42 Former Deben High School site proposed development,
 Felixstowe (Source Tate Hindle Architects for East Suffolk
 Council) www.tatehindle.co.uk
- Page 47 Goldsmith Street, Norwich
- Page 48 Brampton

- Chapter 8 title page Bawdsey
- Chapter 9 title page Framlingham
- Chapter 10 title page Framlingham
- Chapter 11 title page Felixstowe





East Suffolk Council Planning Policy and Delivery Team Riverside, 4 Canning Road, Lowestoft, NR33 0EQ





Planning Policy and Delivery Team (Local Plans) 01394 444557

Development Management (Planning Applications)01394 444832





Planning Policy and Delivery Team (Local Plans)
planningpolicy@eastsuffolk.gov.uk

Development Management (Planning Applications)planning@eastsuffolk.gov.uk

This document is available in alternative formats and in different languages on request. If you need support or assistance to help you read and/or understand this document, please contact the Council using one of the methods above.

www.eastsuffolk.gov.uk/Planning